
 

   
 

Dorset's Joint Public Health Board 
 
Date: Monday, 30 May 2022 
Time: 11.00 am 
Venue: Council Chamber, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ 

 

Members (Quorum – one member from each Authority)  

Mohan Iyengar, Peter Wharf, Karen Rampton and Graham Carr-Jones 

 
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ  

 

For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services  
Meeting Contact: David Northover, Democratic Services Officer - 

david.northover@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk – tel: 01305224175 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, apart from any items listed in 

the exempt part of this agenda. 
 

For easy access to all the council’s committee agendas and minutes download the free 
public app called Modern.Gov for use on any iPad, Android, and Windows tablet.  Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council. 

 
 

 

Agenda 
 

Item  Pages 
 

1.   APOLOGIES 

 
 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
 

 

2.   MINUTES 

 
3 - 10 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 16 February 2022. 

 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

 

 To receive any declarations of interest.  
 

 

4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 
11 - 14 

Public Document Pack



 

 To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 
from town and parish councils and members of the public.  
 

 

5.   FORWARD PLAN 

 
15 - 18 

 To consider the Board’s Forward Plan. 
 

 

6.   DIRECTORS UPDATE ON PUBLIC HEALTH ACTIVITIES 

 

 

 To receive a presentation from the Director for Public Health. 

 

 

7.   FINANCE REPORT 

 
19 - 34 

 To consider a report by the Director of Public Health. 
 

 

8.   HEALTH IMPROVEMENT SERVICES PERFORMANCE 
MONITORING 

 

35 - 64 

 To consider a report by the Director of Public Health. 
 

 

 

9.   HEALTH PROTECTION PRESENTATION 

 
 

 To receive a presentation from the Director for Public Health. 
 

 

 

10.   BUSINESS PLAN 

 
65 - 104 

 To consider a report by the Director of Public Health. 
 

 

 

11.   URGENT ITEMS 

 
 

 To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 

of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall be 
recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

 

12.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

 

 

 To determine – and confirm – the dates of future meetings of the 
Board:- 

 

 July 2022 – date and venue to be determined 

 1 December 2022 – venue to be determined 

 16 February 2023 – venue to be determined 

 
 
 

 

 
 



 
 

DORSET'S JOINT PUBLIC HEALTH BOARD 

 
MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY 16 FEBRUARY 2022 

 
Present: Cllr Mohan Iyengar (Chairman), Cllrs Karen Rampton and Graham Carr-

Jones 
 
Apologies: Cllrs Peter Wharf 

 
Also present:  - 

 
Officers present (for all or part of the meeting): Sam Crowe (Director of Public 

Health), Sian White (Finance Manager), Nicky Cleave (Public Health Dorset) Jane 
Horne (Consultant), Vanessa Read (Director of Nursing and Quality, Dorset CCG) 

and David Northover (Democratic Services Officer). 
  

 

116.   Election of Chairman 

 
Resolved 

That Cllr Mohan Iyengar be elected Chairman for the meeting. 
 
The Board agreed that the Chairmanship should in future be maintained 
for a full year – and not rotated each meeting between Authorities as had 

previously been the case - on the basis of the election of the Chairman at the 

first meeting following appointments made at respective Council’s May 
meetings. 

 
117.   Appointment of Vice-Chairman 

 
Resolved 

That Cllr Graham Carr-Jones be appointed Vice-Chairman for the meeting. 

 
118.   Apologies 

 

 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Peter Wharf. 

 
119.   Minutes 

 

The minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2021 were confirmed. 
 

120.   Declarations of Interest 

 
No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting. 

 
121.   Public Participation 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2 

 
There were no statements or questions from Town and Parish Councils nor 
public statements or questions at the meeting. 

 
122.   Forward Plan 

 
The Board’s Forward Plan was received and noted. Whilst it was noted that 
monitoring of Public Health Dorset commitments and obligations was 

necessary, it would be beneficial if the Business Plan was seen to be a ‘live’ 
document which could be modified, as necessary, to reflect changing 

objectives as they occurred. 
 

123.   Finance Report 

 
The Board considered the Finance Report on the use of each council’s grant 

for public health, including the budget for the shared service Public Health 
Dorset, and the other elements of grant used within each council outside of 
the public health shared service. 

 
The opening revenue budget for Public Health Dorset in 21/22 was £25.036M. 

This is based on a combined Grant Allocation of £34.267M. Current forecast 
outturn is £453K underspend, with more detail set out in section 10 below and 
appendix 1. It was proposed the underspend be used to address two specific 

areas -Safeguarding Children and Young People and Place-based prevention 
initiatives 

 
What proportion each local authority retained of the grant to deliver other 

services with public health impact was explained.  
 
Grant allocations for public health in 22/23 and the combined Grant Allocation 

of £35.229M showed an increase of £962k, or 2.81%. A key principle is that 
as a minimum both local authorities would continue with their current 

contributions. Options for use of the combined £962k uplift are set out in 
section 12 and proposed for early Intervention 0-19 and Live Well Dorset. 
 

The Board were informed about the 2021/22 shared service budget and what 
could be looked forward to in2022/23 

 
How future Covid 19 work , wider health protection work and Integrated Care 
Services development were to be addressed was explained  as well as the 

reasoning why allocations were made as they were. 
 

The board were assured that all funding would be spent on public health 
initiatives and that provision had been made for this to be prioritised on what 
could be done to the best effect. The emphasis was still first and foremost on 

prevention.  
 

How health checks were being addressed was explained as these had been 
largely paused, during the Covid -19 pandemic. It was intended that these 
would be re invigorated going forward. 

 

Page 4



3 

The Director explained the difference between the options : Option 1 -  
40% share of uplift to the shared service with 60% retained by councils, and 
Option 2 - 60% share of uplift to the shared service with 40% retained by 

councils.  
 

Members considered that Option 2 would provide for the necessary funding to 

achieve what was intended to be delivered.  

 
Resolved 

1) That the current forecast position of the shared service be noted. 

2) That use of the underspend as set out in section 10.4 of the report, be 
approved. 
3) That the current position for the retained portions of the grant and the audit 

report for Dorset Council be noted. 
4) That the publication of 2022/23 grant allocations for the councils on 7 

February be noted. 
5) That options for the 2022/23 uplift and implications for shared service 
budget in 2022/23, as set out in section 12, be noted and endorsed. 

6) That final contributions for financial annexe for 2022/23 be approved - 
based on Option 2 being accepted. 

 
Reason for Recommendation: 

The public health grant is ring-fenced, and all spend against it must comply 

with the necessary grant conditions and be signed off by both the Chief 
Executive or Section 151 Officer and the Director of Public Health for each 

local authority. 
The public health shared service delivers public health services across Dorset 
Council (DC) and BCP Council. The service works closely with both Councils 

and partners to deliver the mandatory public health functions and services, 
and a range of health and wellbeing initiatives. Each council also provides a 

range of other services with public health impact and retains a portion of the 
grant to support this in different ways. 

 
Monitoring spend against the grant will support better financial planning and 

use of the Public Health Grant to improve outcomes in partner Councils, as 
well as through the shared service. 
 

124.   Clinical Services Performance 

 

 
The Board considered a report which provided a high-level summary of 
performance for drugs and alcohol and sexual health services, with supporting 

data in appendices.  
 

The importance of monitoring of the clinical treatment services performance  
was readily acknowledged so that the delivery of the services might still be  
able to achieve all that it might, given what concentrated efforts the pandemic 

was otherwise demanding from PHD. Members considered that housing was  
a consideration which needed to be taken into account in this performance  

Page 5



4 

monitoring. It was hoped that a proportion of the grant would benefit this to be 
able to deliver some difference on targets.  
  

The Board considered that, in their close monitoring of performance, clinical 
treatment services delivery was still being maintained as well as it might, with 

the budget being used to best effect to benefit those in need of the services. 
 
Resolved 

The information in the report and the performance and changes in relation to 
drugs and alcohol, and sexual health be noted and acknowledged. 
 

Reason for Decision  
Close monitoring of performance will ensure that clinical treatment services 

deliver what is expected of them and that our budget is used to best effect.  
 

125.   Health Checks Update 

 
The Board were provided with an update of the current position and thinking 

for the NHS Health Checks Programme and a high-level summary of the 
current position for the NHS Health Check programme.  

 
A series of proposals were being made to achieve what was necessary, these 
being:- 

• Agree for physical, face to face provision of Health Checks in their current 
form to remain paused until the end of March 2023. This allows sufficient time 

to carry out the engagement, design and procurement for a new service, in 
line with national timelines for the prevention service and ICS start-up; 
• Agree to support a continued pausing of the programme until March 2023. 

This will allow sufficient time for the necessary engagement to develop 
options for alternative delivery models in line with future national expectations. 

• Agree to start the development work for a new local digital health check, 
thinking about how best to incorporate the LiveWell Dorset behaviour change 
service with any future population-based cardiovascular disease check. 

• Ask the Health Inequalities Group and ICS Engagement team to support 
work to identify local barriers to delivery and take up of the check over the 

past few years – to inform the future model. The BCP Council Vibrant 
Communities Board, Local Healthwatch, and Dorset Council Stronger 
Neighbourhoods teams should also be consulted as part of this work. 

 
The Board accepted, reluctantly, the case for face to face checks being 

paused and understood the reasoning why this had to be the case and 
considered that engagement and accessibility were essential to health checks 
being successfully deliver and the participation of organisations to deliver this 

to complement those traditional ones,  i.e. GP’s, Pharmacies, walk in clinics 
was critical to achieving this. Parish Councils could play some part as could 

other civic amenities and facilities, including shops that would be more 
convenient. There was a need for progressive and flexible thinking in how this 
could be delivered effectively. Engagement through primary care network by 

invitation and assessment was a means of achieving this. 
 

Page 6



5 

Members understood the inequalities across Dorset of health checks and 
what challenges were being faced . They hoped there might be some quick 
wins to achieve what was able to be and asked for an update on the work 

programme at their next meeting of what initiatives might be able to be 
progressed. 

 
The Board was pleased to see what progress – albeit limited - was being 
made and the continued success being seen with the Services delivered and 

what health improvements were being made. Members were pleased to see 
the new initiatives proposed to be implemented and what benefits these could 

bring. The advent of advancements in the availability of digital services should 
be used to complement face to face contact, as necessary and where 
practicable. 

  
Officers affirmed that Public Health Dorset would remain committed to 

maintaining and developing these improvements going forward. 
  
Resolved  

That the following proposals for the NHS Health Check programme be 
acknowledged and endorsed: 

1) Pause face to face provision of Health Checks in their current form until 
March 2023. This allows sufficient time to carry out the engagement, design 
and procurement for a new service, in line with national timelines for the new 

prevention service and ICS start-up; 
2) Begin the development work for a new local digital health check, thinking 

about how best to incorporate the LiveWell Dorset behaviour change service 
with any future population-based cardiovascular disease check. 
3) Ask the Dorset Health Inequalities Group and ICS Engagement team to 

help identify local barriers to delivery and take up of the check over the past 
few years – to inform the future model. The BCP Council Vibrant Communities 

Board, Local Healthwatch, and Dorset Council Stronger Neighbourhoods 
teams should also be consulted as part of this work. 
 

Reason for Decision  
To allow sufficient time for the national programme recommendations to be 

further developed, the Dorset ICS to launch, and our local work to identify how 
best to overcome barriers and inequalities to be developed so that the 
relaunched check is more effective. 

 
126.   Prevention at Scale (PAS) Stocktake 

 
Members were informed that Prevention at Scale (PAS) was one of the key 
portfolios set out in Our Dorset Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP). 

It set out an ambitious programme of transformation work aimed at building 
prevention approaches into everyday contacts in our local health and care 

system. 
 
Prevention at Scale aimed at building prevention approaches into everyday 

contacts in our local health and care system. Work included transformation 
projects and influencing work under four programmes of Starting Well, Living 

Well, Ageing Well and Heathy Places. 

Page 7



6 

 

Prevention at Scale was designed to build the capacity of all health and care 
partners to support their staff and how they engage more people to improve 

their health and wellbeing and reduce their risks of longer-term conditions and 
need for health or social care.  

 
The Board was pleased to see what progress was being made and the 
continued success being seen with the Services delivered and what health 

improvements were being made. Members were pleased to see the new 
initiatives proposed to be implemented and what benefits these could bring.  

  
Officers affirmed that Public Health Dorset would remain committed to 
maintaining and developing these improvements going forward. 
 
Resolved 

The Joint Public Health Board endorsed the recommendations being made 
and: 

• noted progress on our Prevention at Scale portfolio 

• agreed a continued focus on prevention; and 

• considered a refreshed approach in how the shared service take this 

forward to feed into the Public Health Dorset 2022/23 business plan. 
 

Reason for Decisions 
Prevention at Scale was one of three key portfolios in Our Dorset 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan. It is now timely to review progress. 
There is also a recognition that a different approach may be needed as the 

ICS develops that fits with the national vision and operating model for ICSs. 
 

127.   Business Plan Update 

 
 

  
The Board considered an update on the Business Plan which provided for:-  

 COVID-19 outbreak management and response;  

 Wider System working (prevention and inequalities – with Integrated Care 

System);  

 Public health programmes – our services and delivery;  

 Our organisation including supporting functions.  

 

The Plan showed what was being done, how it was being done and what was 
being achieved by Public Health Dorset in meeting its obligations and 

commitments to public health. 

 
Given the ongoing commitment to addressing COVID-19 and especially the 

recent omicron issues, a significant impact had been seen on the ability of Public 
Health Dorset to maintain its routine public health work. In addition, the 

prevention and inequalities work had been delayed because of the national 

timescales for the ICS launch being put back to July 2022.  
 

Page 8



7 

Given this, agreement was being sought for an extension to developing a detailed 
monitoring plan, recognising that there had not been the capacity to undertake 

the necessary work.  

 
The development of new programmes for 22-23 would form a substantial part of 

the plan, subject to agreement following confirmation of the budget, prioritisation 
and allocation of team capacity.  

 

Risks and challenges to developing the plan - not least that the majority of the 
public health team still being deployed in responding to the pandemic – had 

made it challenging to return to business as usual activities. Given this, 
agreement was being sought for a pause in the process – under the 
circumstances - so as to be able to manage the plan in a meaningful, flexible 

and considered way to ensure its objectives could still be met. 
 

The Board recognised the challenges being faced and acknowledged the 
need for the pause to allow the means of catching up on all that was 
necessary. They hoped that whatever progress could be made would be 

made though so that the pause might be able to be restarted as soon as 
practical. 
 
Resolved 

That the Board endorse the following recommendations: 
1) Support giving further time to developing a detailed monitoring plan for the 
high level business plan agreed with the board in May 2021, recognising that 

there is still considerable uncertainty about current responsibilities in relation 
to COVID-19 local outbreak response, and the delay to the Integrated Care 

System. 
2) Continue to endorse the organisation of our work into the four categories 
of: 

a) COVID-19 outbreak management and response; 
b) Wider System working (prevention and inequalities – with Integrated Care 

System); 
c) Public health programmes; 
d) Our organisation. 

3) Support the high level emerging priorities for 22-23 that are starting to 
emerge as we start to recover from the pandemic and prepare for the ICS 

going live in July 2022. 
 
Reason for Decision  

Since the last Board in November 2021 the public health team has been going 
through it’s busiest time in response to the Omicron wave of the COVID-19 

pandemic. The volume of incidents and outbreaks that have required input 
from the team has been higher than at any time previously. This is due to a 
combination of ongoing high infection rates in the community, increased 

volume of supporting work on vaccination and inequalities, plus picking up 
more responsibility for local health protection and leading incident 
management team meetings as UK Health Security Agency has come under 

more and more pressure. 
 

128.   Urgent items 

 

Page 9



8 

There were no urgent items for consideration.  
 

129.   Dates for Future Meetings 

 
The dates for future meetings of the Board were noted:- 

 Monday 30 May 

 Thursday 21 July – to be rearranged 

 Thursday 1 December 

 Thursday 16 February 2023 

 
 
 

 
Duration of meeting: 1.00  - 3.50 pm 

 
 
Chairman 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 10



Public Participation at Committee Meetings 
Dorset Council welcomes public attendance and involvement at all of its formal committee 
meetings. You can participate in a meeting by attending and listening to councillors debate 
and make decisions; by asking a question, making a statement or presenting a petition 
relating to the business of the committee. 

Decisions made by Dorset Council will affect people who live and work in Dorset and the 
council wishes to ensure that these decisions are fair and democratic.

Please read the information below that sets out the guidelines for public participation.  There 
is separate Guidance to Speaking at Planning Committee should you wish to make 
representations to one of the area planning committees. There is also separate guidance for 
anyone wishing to attend a licensing sub-committee, for details please view the Licensing 
sub-committee procedure and guidance. 

How does public speaking work?

Any member of the public living or working in the Dorset Council area, or any appointed 
representative of any organisation operating within the council’s area may ask a question, 
make a statement or present a petition.

Dorset Council also welcomes the attendance of town and parish council representatives 
at committee and Full Council meetings and the Chairman will normally invite the clerk or 
parish councillor to speak first at a meeting.        

Please note that you do not need to tell the council in advance if you just wish to attend the 
committee meeting to listen to debate. 

How will I know what is on the agenda for a meeting?

Agendas are normally published at least one week in advance of the meeting and are 
available to view at www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk. Committee agendas are also available to 
view by downloading a free app called:-

Modern.gov       onto your laptop or tablet. 
 
How do I make a request to speak?

You need to let the council know if you wish to speak at a committee meeting by contacting 
the Democratic Services Team at least 3 working days before the meeting.  Requests can 
be emailed to DemocraticServices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk.  Or you can phone the council 
(01305 251000) and ask to speak to democratic services.  

When registering your request to speak please provide the following information:

 Your name, address and contact details;
 The name of the councillor to whom the question is directed; 
 The full text of the question or statement in plain English.Page 11

Agenda Item 4

http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/
mailto:DemocraticServices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


How long may I speak?

You are able to speak for up to 3 minutes when asking a question or making a statement. 
However the Chairman of the committee will use their discretion if it is appropriate to 
extend this time. 

What will happen at the meeting itself?

The Chairman will invite you to speak at the appropriate point in the meeting, usually at the 
beginning of the meeting. Town and parish councils will normally be invited to speak first 
followed by members of the public; councillors will listen to all of the questions and 
statements made.  The most appropriate councillor will respond to the question at the 
meeting or if the information is not available a written response will be provided after the 
meeting. 

Is there a limit on the number of people allowed to speak?

There is no limit on the number of people able to speak within the 15 minutes set aside for 
public questions and statements.  Occasionally this time may be extended by the Chairman 
if it is appropriate to do so.  No person or organisation may ask/make more than 2 questions 
or statements at any one meeting. 

Who can submit a Petition?

Anyone who lives works or studies in the council’s area may organise or sign a petition.  
This includes anyone under the age of 18. Full details of the Petition Scheme is set out in 
the Constitution  under the procedure rules. If you are thinking about organising a petition 
please contact the Democratic Services Team who can provide you with help and advice.  

How can I submit a Petition?

A petition must include a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition, 
state what lawful action the petitioners wish the council to take, be signed by at least 20 
people supporting the petition, include the name, address and signature of any person 
supporting the petition and contact details of the petition organiser. 

Petitions can be submitted in paper format or through an e-petition portal. Petitions can also 
be presented to the meeting of Full Council if it meets the threshold. Where the threshold is 
met the petition organiser should contact democratic services at least 10 working days 
before the Full Council meeting. The council’s response will depend on the number of 
people who have signed the petition and the table below sets out that threshold

Number of signatories Responses
20 – 49 Response from relevant director or service head
50 – 4,999 Response from relevant Executive member
5000+ Referred for debate at a meeting of full Council 

What happens next?

If the petition has enough signatures to trigger a debate at Full Council then the petition 
organiser will be informed when and where the meeting will take place.  The council will try 
to consider the petition at its next meeting, although sometimes this may not be possible 

Page 12

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=433&Year=0&info=1&MD=constitution


and consideration will then take place at the following meeting. 

The petition organiser or a person representing the petition organiser will have 3 minutes to 
present the petition at the Full Council meeting.  The petition will be debated by councillors 
unless the petition is referred to another committee for consideration, in which case it will 
not be debated.  Councillors may ask questions of the petition organiser and the petition 
organiser, or their representative, will have 3 minutes at the end of the debate to respond 
before the councillors take a vote on the matter. 

Please refer to the council’s Petition Scheme in the Constitution for further details or contact 
a member of the Democratic Services Team for help and advice.

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
             

Page 13

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=433&Year=0&info=1&MD=constitution


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
Joint Public Health Board Forward Plan 

For the period MAY 2022 – FEBRUARY 2023 
(publication date – 2 MAY 2022) 

 
Explanatory Note: 
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Joint Public Health Board.  It is published 28 days before the next meeting of the 
Committee.  The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions.  Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public or to be considered in a private 
part of the meeting. 
 
Definition of Key Decisions 
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions of the Joint Public Health Board which are likely to - 

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 
local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or 

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 
the relevant local authority.” 

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act.  Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity. 
 
Private/Exempt Items for Decision 
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs.  

 
1. Information relating to any individual.   
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).   
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 

matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.   
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.   
6. Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:- 

 (a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment.   

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.   
 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 5



 

2 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Decision Due 
Date 

Consultation Likely 
Exemption 

Background 
documents 

Member / 
Officer Contact 

 

Directors Update Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

30 May 2022 Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Presentation Sam Crowe 

Finance report Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

30 May 2022 Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local authority 
 
 

N/A Board report Jane Horne, Sian White, Anna 
Fresolone 

Health Improvement Services 
Performance Monitoring 

Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

30 May 2022 Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Board report Sophia Callaghan, Jo Wilson, 
Stuart Burley 

Health Protection Presentation  
 

Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

30 May 2022 Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Presentation Sam Crowe 

Business Plan Joint Public 
Health Board 

30 May 2022 Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Board report Sam Crowe, Sarah Longdon 

       

P
age 16



 

3 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Decision Due 
Date 

Consultation Likely 
Exemption 

Background 
documents 

Member / 
Officer Contact 

Finance report Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

21 July 2022 Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local authority 
 
 

N/A Board report Jane Horne, Sian White, Anna 
Fresolone 

Clinical Services Performance 
Monitoring 

Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

21 July 2022 Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Board report Sophia Callaghan, Nicky 
Cleave 

Business Plan Monitoring Joint Public 
Health Board 

21 July 2022 Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Board report Sam Crowe, Sarah Longdon 

       

       

Finance report Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

1 December 
2022 

Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local authority 
 
 

N/A Board report Jane Horne, Sian White, Anna 
Fresolone 

Health Improvement Services 
Performance Monitoring 

Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

1 December 
2022 

Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Board report Sophia Callaghan, Jo Wilson, 
Stuart Burley 

P
age 17



 

4 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Decision Due 
Date 

Consultation Likely 
Exemption 

Background 
documents 

Member / 
Officer Contact 

Business Plan Monitoring Joint Public 
Health Board 

1 December 
2022 

Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Board report Sam Crowe, Sarah Longdon 

       

       

Finance report Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

16 February 
2023 

Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local authority 
 
 

N/A Board report Jane Horne, Sian White, Anna 
Fresolone 

Clinical Services Performance 
Monitoring 

Joint Public 
Health Board 
 

16 February 
2023 

Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Board report Sophia Callaghan, Nicky 
Cleave 

Business Plan Monitoring Joint Public 
Health Board 

16 February 
2023 

Officers and 
portfolio 
holders from 
each member 
local 
authority..  

N/A Board report Sam Crowe, Sarah Longdon 

       

 
 
 
 
  
 

P
age 18



 
Joint Public Health Board 
30 May 2022 
Finance Update 
 

For Decision 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr P Wharf, Adult Social Care and Health, Dorset Council 
Cllr M Iyengar, Tourism and Active Health, Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council 

  
Local Councillor(s):  All   

Executive Director:  Sam Crowe, Director of Public Health   
     
Report Author:  Jane Horne 
Title:    Consultant in Public Health 
Tel:    01305 224400 
Email:    jane.horne@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

 
Recommendation: 
The Joint Public Health Board is asked to: 

1) note the 21/22 out turn of £706k underspend for the shared service and 
break-even position for the grant retained within each council.  

2) approve the 2022/23 opening budget for the shared service, and 
3) note 2022/23 plans for retained elements within each council.  

 
Reason for Recommendation:      
 
The public health grant is ring-fenced, and all spend against it must comply with 
the necessary grant conditions and be signed off by both the Chief Executive or 
Section 151 Officer and the Director of Public Health for each local authority.  
 

The public health shared service delivers public health services across Dorset 
Council (DC) and BCP Council. The service works closely with both Councils and 
partners to deliver the mandatory public health functions and services, and a 
range of health and wellbeing initiatives. Each council also provides a range of 
other services with public health impact and retains a portion of the grant to 
support this in different ways.  
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



Monitoring spend against the grant will support better financial planning and use 
of the Public Health Grant to improve outcomes in partner Councils, as well as 
through the shared service. 
 
1 Executive Summary  

 
1.1 This report provides a regular update on the use of each council’s ring-

fenced public health grant, including the budget for the shared service 
Public Health Dorset, and the other elements of the grant used within 
each council outside of the public health shared service.  

 

1.2 The opening revenue budget for Public Health Dorset in 21/22 was 
£25.036M, and the final outturn was a £706K underspend, with more 
detail set out in section 10 below and table 1 in appendix 1.  

 

1.3 As at 31st March 2022 the ring-fenced public health reserve stands at 
£2.647M, with £1.046M potentially committed to different projects and 
programmes.  

 

1.4 The Board agreed 2022/23 contributions from each local authority to 
the shared service at their last meeting, including 60% of the 22/23 
grant uplift as set out in appendix 2. This gives a 22/23 opening 
revenue budget for Public Health Dorset of £25.615M.  

 

1.5 Each local authority retains a portion of the grant to deliver other 
services with public health impact. The public health ring-fenced 
conditions apply equally to these elements of the grant and therefore 
the Board also monitors the use of the Grant in each council outside of 
the shared service. In 2021/22 both councils broke even on their 
retained grant. As with the Dorset council audit, the BCP audit showed 
reasonable assurance on governance of the retained portions of the 
public health grant (appendix 3).  

 

1.6 For 2022/23 each council will retain additional funds equivalent to 40% 
of the uplift to their public health grant. Plans for the use of the retained 
grant in 22/23 are set out in section 13. 

 

1.7 A range of additional grants and income were received by the shared 
service in 2021/22 and are planned in 2022/23, with £0.8M additional 
income spent in 2021/22, £1.4M of income carried over into 2022/23, 
and an additional £0.9M income anticipated into the shared service in 
2022/23. This excludes the Contain Outbreak Management Fund for 
each council. More detail is set out in section 14 and appendix 4. 

 

2 Financial Implications 
2.1 The shared service model was developed to enable money and resources 

to be used efficiently and effectively, whilst retained elements allow for 
flexibility for local priorities. Financial implications are covered throughout 
this report. 

 

Page 20



3 Wellbeing and health implications 
 

3.1 The work of Public Health Dorset and the local authorities supported by the 
public health grant will have wide-ranging health and wellbeing implications. 
Any specific implications are highlighted where relevant in the report.  

 

4 Climate implications 
4.1 Public Health Dorset and the public heath grant support a range of work 

that will have impacts on climate change, however there are no specific 
implications identified in this report.  

 

5 Other Implications 
5.1 None identified in this paper.  
 

6 Risk Assessment 
6.1 Having considered the risks associated with this financial monitoring, the 

level of risk has been identified as: 
Current Risk: MEDIUM 
Residual Risk: LOW 

7 Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

7.1 This is a monitoring report therefore EqIA is not applicable. 
 

8 Appendices 
Appendix 1 Finance Tables May 2022 
Appendix 2 Financial contributions to shared service 2021/22 
Appendix 3 BCP Council audit report 
Appendix 4 Additional grants and income 

 

9 Background Papers 
Previous finance reports to the Board 
Shared Service Partnership agreement November 2020 
Spending Review 2021 
Public health grants to local authorities: 2022 to 2023 - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) published 7 February 2022 

Finance briefing, January 2022 
 

10 21/22 Out turn 
 

10.1 The 21/22 shared service budget was £25.036M.  
 

10.2 The final outturn was £706K underspend, with detail set out in table 1, 
appendix 1. This is an increased underspend from the forecast reported at 
the last Board, predominantly because of some spend being attributed to 
other grants and funding than the ring-fenced public health grant. More 
detail on some of these additional grants is provided in section 14.  

 

11 Reserve 
 

Page 21

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s21501/Nov%2020%209%20appendix.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/autumn-budget-and-spending-review-2021-documents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-grants-to-local-authorities-2022-to-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-grants-to-local-authorities-2022-to-2023


11.1 The 21/22 underspend has been added to the ring-fenced public health 
reserve. At 31st March 2022 this therefore shows a total of £2.647M, see 
table 2, appendix 1.  

 

11.2 Previous agreements through the Board mean that a proportion of the 
reserves are fully committed, or there is an indicative commitment in 
support of a particular programme of work: 

• £443k committed to PAS projects 

• £340k available to kickstart community health improvement services as 

required 

• £97k interim additional safeguarding capacity until a sustainable model 

is in place 

• Potentially up to £609k available for place-based work 

 

11.3 This leaves £1.158M uncommitted funds in the reserve.  
 

12 2022/23 
 

12.1 The Board agreed contributions from each local authority in February 2022, 
shown in appendix 2. This gives a 22/23 opening revenue budget for Public 
Health Dorset of £25.615M.  

 

12.2 This is based on the shared service receiving 60% of the uplift to the grant, 
with 40% being retained for use by councils. The shared service budget for 
22/23 is set out in more detail in table x in appendix 1. Within the shared 
service the uplift will be used to give: 

• No change to budgets for clinical treatment services 

• An increase in early intervention of £167k to cover breastfeeding peer 

support and developments following the CYPPHS Annual 

Conversation.  

• An increase of £120k on health improvement to consolidate and 

expand our LiveWell Dorset offer.  

• A £25k increase in Health Protection to cover existing commitments 

• £30k increase in Public Health Intelligence to commission an oral 

health survey in line with the national programme.  

• £220k on general operating costs and team costs to cover inflation, 

changes due to redesign of the team, historic pay awards since 

2017/18 and any potential 22/23 pay award.  

 

12.3 Our initial forecast suggests that we are likely to see an underspend in 
2022/23. This assumes: 

• Equivalent health improvement activity to 19/20, taking account of 

changes in how some services are provided  

• NHS Health Checks spend approx. £200k 

Commented [JH1]: This matches the wording we used n 
the Feb paper 

Page 22



• No further cost pressures being identified 

• Developments within early intervention and LiveWell Dorset spend to 

budget.  

 

12.4 There are other external factors that could create financial risk or volatility 
for the service, and work on the business plan may highlight further 
requirements for the team. These include: 

• COVID work – the shared service continues to provide additional 

support in response to COVID, with some fixed term posts still in place. 

Support requirements for 22/23 (and beyond) remain uncertain, but we 

currently expect these will be fully managed through the remaining 

COMF monies which can be used until March 2023.  

• Wider health protection work – ways of working with UKHSA are still in 

transition, with most focus still on COVID where funding is being 

reduced and response being scaled back. There is a risk that new 

structures will not enable the same level of pre-COVID response for 

wider health protection functions, and that the local authority is 

therefore expected to pick these up, although we are not resourced to 

do so. 

• ICS development – There will clearly be a continued role for public 

health within the ICS, but this will continue to develop. We have 

already seen some national ICS funding and locally agreed funding 

being passed to the shared service to support delivery of some 

priorities, with more detail set out in section 14.  

• Additional national grants and expectations – some additional grants to 

the local authorities or local NHS may be passed to the shared service 

to manage, with additional funding, but also additional expectations, 

see section 14.  

 

13 Public Health grant allocation retained by the Local Authorities 
 

13.1 Alongside the shared public health service, each council also provides a 
range of other services with public health impact and retains a portion of the 
grant to support this in different ways. The public health ring-fenced 
conditions apply equally to the whole grant and is therefore also covered in 
this report. Both council audit programmes have looked at the assurances 
in place around these elements of the grant during 2021/22, with Dorset 
councils report shared at the February meeting. 

 

13.2 BCP council retained £8.112M in 21/22. An underspend on the budget for 
Drugs and Alcohol was used to cover additional costs within Children’s 
early help, with a 21/22 outturn of:  

• Drugs and alcohol services for adults and children, £4.558M 
Commented [JH2]: Confirmed with AF 9/5 

Page 23



• Children’s centres and early help, £3.412M  

• Central overheads, £117k 

• Retained earmarked reserve for digital engagement platform, £25k. 
 

13.3 In 22/23 BCP council will retain £8.338M. This will be set against the 
following budget areas:  

• Drugs and alcohol services for adults and children (£5.090M) 

• Children’s centres and early help (£2.994M)  

• A central overheads element (£254k) 
 

13.4 The report of the BCP audit of their retained public health allocation took 
place in Q4 of 21/22 and the report is shared at appendix 3. 

 

13.5 Dorset Council retained £1.117M in 21/22. Overall outturn was breakeven, 
showing against planned areas of spend as below:  

• Community safety, £170k  

• Community development work, £327k  

• Children’s early intervention, £114k  

• Support for homelessness, £104K   

• Prevention contracts for people with complex needs, £191k 

• Additional resource to support substance misuse and recovery, suicide 

prevention, self-harm reduction, and other prevention initiatives, £179k 

• A central overheads element, £32k 

 

13.6 In 22/23 Dorset council will retain £1.277M. This will be set against the 
following areas:  

• Community safety (£283k). The increase will support additional work 

around domestic abuse and violent crime, linked to new legislation.  

• Community development work (£333k).  

• Children’s early intervention (£114k).  

• Prevention and support for adults with complex needs (£515k). This 

includes support for rough sleepers, those with mental health, 

substance misuse and housing needs, as well as suicide prevention 

and self-harm reduction.  

• A central overheads element – (£32k). 

 

14 Additional relevant grants and income 
 

14.1 A range of additional grants were made in 2021/22 and are planned in 
2022/23 that are relevant to public health. The South West Regional team 
have shared a list showing relevant funds that come from a range of 
national sources, with funding routes either through Integrated Care 
systems or to local authorities initially.  

 

Commented [JH3]: Confirmed with AF 9/5 

Commented [JH4]: Agreed with Sian 

Commented [JH5]: Agreed with Sian 

Page 24



14.2 Through our work within the Integrated Care System funds may then be 
passed on to the shared service, either by one or both local authorities or 
via a section 256 agreement with NHS Dorset CCG. There are also some 
local agreements that reflect local priorities and are not included with in the 
Regional list.  

 

14.3 Excluding the Contain Outbreak Management Funds for each council, the 
shared service has spent £0.8M additional income in 2021/22 and carried 
over £1.4M into 2022/23.  A further £0.9M income is anticipated into the 
shared service in 2022/23. More detail is set out in appendix 4 covering the 
Regional list and local arrangements.   

 

14.4 Grant amounts have often only been confirmed late in the day, and 
conditions have often been subject to change, so we anticipate there could 
be further changes. One recent example of a last-minute change is the 
adult weight management grant. This grant was received part-way through 
2021/22, with guidance that the grant would be maintained for 3 years, and 
plans were developed with that in mind. However, in April 2022 it was 
confirmed that there will be no further funding after 2021/22, year 1. 

 

14.5 Most grants or allocations in appendix 4 are made to all local authorities or 
all ICSs, although shares will differ. The HM Treasury Shared Outcomes 
Fund, which includes a £19.7M on a pilot to join up data to cut crime and 
better support victims and vulnerable people, will only be applicable to BCP 
local authority. The South West will receive £65k at a regional level, with 
pilots expected to run in Bristol, Cornwall and BCP. It is unclear whether 
this will come from the Regional monies or there will be additional funds for 
these pilot areas. 
 

 

 

Footnote: 
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities implications 
have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is included within the 
report.  

Page 25



Appendix 1 Finance Tables May 2022 
 
Table 1. Final outturn 2021/22 

2021/22  Budget 2021-2022 
Final outturn 2021-

2022 
Over/underspend 

2021/22 

Public Health Function    
Clinical Treatment 
Services  £8,929,500 £8,707,596 £221,904 

Early Intervention 0-19  £11,248,000 £11,291,013 -£43,013 

Health Improvement  £2,517,679 £1,732,220 £785,459 

Health Protection  £35,500 £54,274 -£18.774 

Public Health Intelligence  £120,000 £110,815 £9,185 

Resilience and Inequalities  £80,000 £84 £79,916 

Public Health Team  £2,106,212 £2,434,889 -£328,677 

 Total £25,036,891 £24,330,891 £706,000 

 
Table 2. Public Health reserve 

Opening balance at 1st April 2021 £1,940,900 

Underspend at 31st March 2021 £706,000 

Total amount in reserve at 31st March 2022 £2,646,900 

 
Table 3. Opening budget and provisional forecast 2022/23 

2022/23  Budget 2022-2023 
Forecast outturn 

2022-2023 

Forecast 
over/underspend 

2022/23 

Public Health Function    
Clinical Treatment 
Services  £8,929,500 £8,929,500 £0 

Early Intervention 0-19  £11,415,500 £11,415,500 £0 

Health Improvement  £2,637,043 £2,237,043 £400,000 

Health Protection  £60,500 £60,500 £0 

Public Health Intelligence  £150,000 £150,000 £0 

Resilience and Inequalities  £80,000 £80,000 £0 

Public Health Team  £2,341,921 £2,341,921 £0 

 Total £25,614,464 £25,214,464 £400,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



Appendix 2 Financial contributions to shared service 2022/23 
 
Table 1. Agreed Partner contributions 22/23 

2022/23  BCP Dorset Total 
 

 £ £ £ 

2022/23 Grant Allocation 20,615,825 14,613,377 35,229,202 

Less retained amounts -8,337,616 -1,277,122 -9,614,737 

Joint Service Budget Partner Contributions 12,278,209 13,336,255 25,614,465 

Public Health Dorset Budget 2022/23 
  

£25,614,465 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT  

Public Health Grant – Retained Portions 
2021/22 
 

Page 1 
This report is private and confidential and has been prepared solely for internal use by or on behalf of BCP Council, and must not be disclosed 
to any third party without the written approval of the Head of Audit & Management Assurance.  The Council, its employees, agents and advisors 
accept no responsibility, liability or duty of care to any third party for any matters, observations or conclusions which are stated or implied in 
this report.   

 

A. Executive Summary 

 
On the basis of our fieldwork, we are able to provide the following level of assurance on the overall 
adequacy of the control framework as per our audit scope: 
 

Audit Opinion: 

Substantial 
Assurance 

There is a sound control framework which is designed to achieve the service objectives, 
with key controls being consistently applied.   

Reasonable 
Assurance 

Whilst there is basically a sound control framework, there are some weaknesses 
which may put service objectives at risk.   

Partial 
Assurance 

There are weaknesses in the control framework which are putting service objectives at 
risk. 

Minimal 
Assurance 

The control framework is generally poor as such service objectives are at significant risk.   

 

Recommendations: 

PRIORITY High Medium Low Total 

Number of Recommendations 0 0 2 2 

 

Summary of Findings: 

Low Priority 

Budget Monitoring:   

• Budget holders do not routinely receive a copy of the Public Health grant conditions [R1] 

Reporting:   

• The Director of Public Health and s.151 Officer do not receive a copy of the Public Health Revenue 
Outturn (RO) form to support their Year End Statement of Assurance sign-off [R2] 

 

  

Page 29



Page 2 

 

 

The control framework is the system of risk management, internal control and governance put in place 
by management to ensure that objectives are achieved, waste and inefficiency is minimised and to 
prevent and detect fraud and corruption.  This audit was conducted as part of the 2021/22 BCP Council 
Internal Audit Plan.  
 

Our objectives were to provide assurance on the appropriateness of governance arrangements for the 
portion of the Public Health Grant that is retained by BCP Council.  Assurance regarding the portion of 
the grant retained by Dorset Council has been provided by their own internal auditors (SWAP) using the 
same audit programme.  The areas assessed as per the agreed Audit Brief are summarised below: 
 

• Financial Information:  Assessment of whether there is detailed expenditure information contained 
within the BCP Council finance system for the retained grant. 

• Budget Monitoring:  Assessment of whether the budget holders monitor expenditure of the retained 
grant.   

• Reporting:  Review of arrangements for the Director of Public Health and BCP Council s.151 Officer 
to obtain assurance that the retained grant is spent in accordance with the grant conditions (the 
upwards reporting arrangements in place to facilitate this).   

 

Where weaknesses in the control framework have been identified, recommendations have been made 
for improvement.   
 

We undertake our work on a risk and sample basis in line with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
and as such we do not test all internal controls nor identify all areas of control weakness, fraud or 
irregularity, however, any issues identified during the course our work are reported to management. 
 

Recommendation Priority Ratings: 

High 
Priority 

High priority recommendations have actual / potential critical implications for achievement of the 

Service’s objectives and/or a major effect on service delivery. Agreed actions should be urgently 

implemented by the Service within 3 months of the issue of the final audit report and the associated 

risk(s) added to the Service Risk Register. Recommendations will be followed-up by Internal Audit 

as they fall due. 

Medium 
Priority 

Medium priority recommendations have actual / potential significant implications for achievement of 
the Service’s objectives and/or a significant effect on service delivery. Agreed actions should be 
implemented by the Service within 9 months of the issue of the final audit report and formal 
consideration should be given to adding the associated risk(s) to the Service Risk Register. 
Recommendations will be followed-up by Internal Audit as part of the next audit review or within 12 
months after the implementation due date (whichever is sooner).   

Low 
Priority 

Low Priority recommendations have actual / potential minor implications for achievement of the 

Service’s objectives and/or a minor effect on service delivery. Recommendations will not be routinely 

followed up by Internal Audit, however, action taken to implement may be assessed on an ad hoc 

basis.    

 

ISSUED ON 
BEHALF OF: 

Nigel Stannard, Head of Audit & Management Assurance  

(Chief Internal Auditor) 

AUTHOR Mina Beckett, Audit Manager  

DATE April 2022  Version Number: FINAL v1.00 

DISTRIBUTION:  Adam Richens – Director of Finance 

Sam Crowe – Director of Public Health, Jane Horne – Consultant in Public Health 

Anna Fresolone, Finance Manager, ASC & Public Health     

Karen Wood, ASC Commissioning Manager – Drugs & Alcohol 

Simon Milne, Ruth Hodges, Audit Managers (Deputy CIA’s) 

Nigel Stannard, Head of Audit & Management Assurance  

Sally White, Principal Auditor, SWAP Internal Audit Services 

  

B. Audit Objectives, Scope & Methodology 

Page 30



Page 3 

 

C. Detailed Findings & Recommendations 

 

1.  Financial Information  

 
BCP Council has retained £8,112k of the Public Health Grant for 2021/22. This has been allocated to the following areas: 
 

• £5,001k - Drugs and alcohol services for adults and children  

• £2,994k – Children’s Centres 

• £117k – Central overheads element 
 

Arrangements for ensuring that the BCP Council finance system contains detailed expenditure information for the retained grant appeared 
reasonable. 

 

2. Budget Monitoring 

 
Arrangements to ensure budget holders monitor expenditure of the retained grant appeared reasonable. A minor recommendation relating 
to issues identified during the course of our work is detailed below. 
 

Rec. 
No. 

Finding Recommendation Priority 
Status / Management 

Response 
Responsible 

Officer 
Target 
Date 

R1  Grant Conditions 

Issue: Budget holders do not have a copy of 
the grant conditions to ensure awareness of 
the requirements.   

By way of compensating control, this 
information is publicly available on the 
Government’s website and service plan 
priorities, objectives and associated actions 
are consistent with grant conditions.   

Risk: Grant conditions are not met.   

It is recommended that 
procedures are put in 
place to ensure that at 
the point Public Health 
Grant funds are 
received, budget 
holders are provided 
with and acknowledge 
acceptance of the 
associated conditions.   

Low Agreed with Management Finance 
Manager, 

ASC & 
Public Health 

30.06.2022 

 
 

P
age 31



Page 4 

 

3. Reporting 

 

Arrangements for reporting of retained grant appeared reasonable.   
 
Quarterly ‘Finance Update’ reports on the use of each council’s grant are provided to the Joint Public Health Board by the Consultant in Public 
Health using information provided by the BCP Finance Manager (ASC & Public Health).   
 
It was noted that a modest underspend on the 2021/22 Drug & Alcohol Misuse Services Public Health budget is expected at year end (approx. 
£375k).  As in previous years, the Director of Public Health has been consulted to confirm that this funding should be redirected for use as a 
higher contribution towards Children’s Public Health services provided by BCP Council. 
 
A minor recommendation relating to issues identified during the course of our work is detailed below. 
 

Rec. 
No. 

Finding Recommendation Priority 
Status / Management 

Response 
Responsible 

Officer 
Target 
Date 

R2  Year End Statement of Assurance 

Issue: The Council’s s.151 Officer and the 
Director of Public Health are required to sign 
an annual statement of assurance to confirm 
that they have reviewed the public health 
Revenue Outturn (RO) form and are satisfied 
that grant monies have been applied in 
accordance with the specified conditions.   

It was noted that although there are well-
established processes for monitoring and 
reporting of grant expenditure and for 
completion and external audit of the Council’s 
RO form (including the specific section on 
Public Health), a copy of the form is not 
supplied to the s.151 Officer and Director of 
Public Health at the time they are asked to 
sign the statement.   

Risk:  Supporting audit trail for Year End 
Statement of Assurance sign-off is 
incomplete.   

It is recommended that 
procedures are put in 
place to ensure that 
the BCP Council s.151 
Officer and Director of 
Public Health are 
provided with a copy 
of the public health 
section of the Revenue 
Outturn (RO) form to 
support their Year End 
Statement of 
Assurance sign-off.   

Low Agreed with Management Finance 
Manager, 

ASC & 
Public Health 

31.10.2022 

 

P
age 32



Appendix 4: Potential Public health and Prevention monies 

 

Funding area Funding 
source 

Foot 
print 

 21/22 
carry 
forward 

22/23 Local approach 

    £ £  

Tobacco dependency, LTP prevention 

Inpatients NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset 242,000 266,000 From CCG via Section 
256 to shared service Maternity NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset 109,000 

Topslice NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset 43,992 

Early implementer MH NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset 0 

Alcohol, LTP prevention 

Wave 1 & 2 sites NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset  0 Dorset ICS is not a 
wave 1 or 2 site Alcohol Care Team NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset  0 

Nationally funded projects NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset  0 

LTP prevention funding other 

Health Inequalities NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset  2,128,000 Overseen by ICS 
Health Inequalities 
Programme Board 

Staffing Infrastructure to 
support Tobacco / Alcohol / 
Obesity 

NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset   
34,903 

Still in discussion 

Weight Management to LAs 

Adult Weight Management 
Service 

 LA BCP 82,810 0 Delivery by shared 
service on behalf of 

both councils.    LA Dorset 82,156 0 

Addiction 

Supplementary Misuse 
Treatment and Recovery 

DHSC LA BCP  570,000 BCP council oversight 
Supp. 23/24 £870k, 

24/25 - £1,430k 
IP detox at same 
level until 24/25 

Inpatient detox grant DHSC LA BCP  76,246 

Individual Placement 
support for D&A treatment 

DHSC LA BCP 0  

Supplementary Misuse 
Treatment and Recovery 

DHSC LA Dorset 128,000 430,000 PHD oversight for DC 
Supp. 23/24 - £440k, 

24/25 £790k 
IP detox at same 
level until 24/25 

Inpatient detox grant DHSC LA Dorset 55,263 

Individual Placement 
support for D&A treatment 

DHSC LA Dorset 0  

Homelessness and Rough sleeping 

Rough Sleeper D&A 
treatment grant 

DLUHC LA BCP  Tbc BCP council oversight 

Homelessness Prevention DLUHC LA BCP  1,817,645 

Rough Sleeping 
Accommodation 
Programme 

DLUHC LA BCP  4,338,146 

Rough Sleeping Initiative Y5 DLUHC LA BCP  Tbc 

Shared Outcomes Fund DLUHC LA BCP 0 Tbc  

Rough Sleeper D&A 
treatment grant 

DLUHC LA Dorset 117,000 Tbc Manged by shared 
service on behalf of 

DC only 

Homelessness Prevention DLUHC LA Dorset  916,753 Dorset council 
oversight Rough Sleeping 

Accommodation 
Programme 

DLUHC LA Dorset  1,126,043 

Rough Sleeping Initiative Y5 DLUHC LA Dorset  Tbc 

Page 33



Other 

SW ICS Green Plan Grant NHSE/I ICS Our Dorset 35,000 Check? From CCG via Section 
256 to shared service 

Illegal Tobacco Op CE, 3 year 
funding 

HMRC LA BCP  Tbc Not yet known 

 HMRC LA Dorset  Tbc Not yet known 

Local Section 256 agreements 

PAS Maternity NHS Dorset PHD Our Dorset 225,000 0 From CCG via Section 
256 to shared service 

Suicide Prevention NHS Dorset PHD Our Dorset 115,000 0 From CCG via Section 
256 to shared service 

Childhood Obesity NHS Dorset PHD Our Dorset 20,000 0 From CCG via Section 
256 to shared service 

Diabetes transformation NHS Dorset PHD Our Dorset 389,000 0 From CCG via Section 
256 to shared service 

 

Page 34



1 
 

1  

Joint Public Health Board 
Health Improvement Services – Performance 
Update 30 May 2022 
 

For Decision 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr P Wharf, Adult Social Care and Health, Dorset Council 
Cllr M Iyengar, Tourism and Active Health, Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council 

 
Local Councillor(s): All  

Executive Director:  Sam Crowe, Director of Public Health    
     
Report Author:  Sophia Callaghan, Stuart Burley and Joanne Wilson 
Title: Public Health Consultant, Head of Programmes (LWD) and Head 

of Programmes (Children & Young People) 
Tel: 01305 224400 
Email: sophia.callaghan@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk, 

stuart.burley@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  
joanne.wilson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

 
Report Status:  Public 

Recommendation:   

The Joint Public Health Board is asked to note the performance on health 

improvement services and children and young people’s services, and: 

1. Support developing options for the future development of LiveWell Dorset 

that supports a joined-up approach with Integrated Care system partners; 

2. Agree the current approach to restarting the Health Checks programme 

following the discussion at February Board, noting timescales for re-

launching in Spring 2023; 

3. Support plans within CYP services to develop a more diverse and flexible 

workforce that can help address recognised capacity gaps. This includes 

recommending to the Integrated Care System that they include 

recruitment and retention of health visitors within system workforce plans. 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 8

mailto:sophia.callaghan@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:stuart.burley@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.wilson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


2 
 

Reason for Recommendation: To update the Joint Public Health Board and to 
note performance and ensure that Councils have oversight of the mandated 
public health services provided through the ring-fenced Public Health Grant.   
  

Page 36



3 
 

1. Executive Summary 
This report provides a summary of performance for LiveWell Dorset, 

smoking cessation, weight management services, community providers, 

health checks and children and young people’s public health service 

(CYPPHS) performance; any supporting data is in the appendices.   

2. Financial Implications 
Services considered within this paper are commissioned from the 

recurrent Public Health Dorset shared service budget. Most of the Health 

Improvement Services are commissioned through either indicative figures 

or cost and volume type contractual arrangements.  

None of these contracts currently includes any element of incentive or 

outcome related payment. The contract for the new CYPPHS has a 

performance-related element linked with outcomes (from October 2019 

onwards). Monitoring of performance ensures that we achieve maximum 

value from these contracts. 

3. Well-being and Health Implications 
The health improvement services covered within this report all have a role 

in supporting people to stay well, with a good quality of life. Specific 

implications are set out in the relevant sections. 

  
4. Climate implications N/A 
 
5. Other Implications  N/A 
 
6. Risk Assessment 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk 

has been identified as: 

Current Risk:  LOW 

Residual Risk:  LOW 

 
7. Equalities Impact Assessment 

EQIA Assessments form part of commissioning for all public health 

services and are published in accordance with Dorset Council guidance. 

 
8. Appendices 

Appendix 1:  LiveWell Dorset, Weight Management and Smoking 

Cessation performance report 

Appendix 2:  Community Health Improvement Services performance 

report 

Page 37



4 
 

Appendix 3:  Children and Young People’s Public Health Nursing Services 

(0 – 19 years) data reporting  

 

 Appendix 4: Celebrating success and user experience feedback 

 
9. Background Papers 

Previous Health Improvement performance reports to JPHB, most recent 
November 2021 
Health Checks Update to Board, February 2022  
LiveWell Dorset Service Plan 2021-22 

 

 

Health Improvement Services 

  

10. LiveWell Dorset (LWD)  
 

10.1 LWD is a pan-Dorset health improvement service that supports individuals to 

make sustainable behaviour changes, which will improve life expectancy and 

reduce the years spent in ill health.  LWD uses behavioural science to deliver 

advice, coaching and digital support to individuals and organisations. 

 

10.2 Activity in 2021/22 increased by 43% compared with the previous year that 

was greatly impacted by Covid-19. Although the service is becoming much 

busier again, activity remains 17% lower compared with the last full year prior 

to pandemic. This is likely to be caused by continued disruptions across the 

health sector who refer heavily into the service. Support for weight loss and 

increasing physical activity are the two pathways most frequently delivered, reflecting 

prevalence of obesity and inactivity, compared with fewer smokers or harmful 

drinkers. 

 

10.3 LWD continues to maintain good engagement in areas of greatest need with 

28% of service users coming from the 20% most deprived quintile. 

Engagement is 36% for BCP, reflecting greater numbers of individuals living 

in areas of deprivation across BCP compared with DC.   

 

10.4 Reach (table 4, appendix 1) measures how effective the service is at 

engaging individuals with identified risks. LWD is a holistic service, which 

aims to support people across multiple risk behaviours; Engagement is 

highest for weight (86%) and smoking (84%), and lowest for alcohol (16%), 

which has decreased in the last year. Positive impacts and outcomes at 

Page 38

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s26624/Nov%2021%2010.pdf
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=438&MId=5216&Ver=4
https://livewelldorset.sharepoint.com/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2FShared%20Documents%2FLWD%2FMarketing%20%26%20Communications%2FLWD%20Service%20Plan%202021%2D22%5FFINAL%2Epdf&parent=%2FShared%20Documents%2FLWD%2FMarketing%20%26%20Communications&p=true&wdLOR=c4A071F5A%2DDA33%2D46A8%2D8EA9%2DE9B7EDDBB7D1&ga=1


5 
 

three months remain largely unchanged, ranging from 40% for weight loss 

and up to 72% for alcohol reduction. 

 

10.5  Every few years LWD re-evaluates the current service needs and identifies 

the development priorities for the coming years. The service is currently 

reviewing the 2021/22 plan, available here. 

 

10.6 The LWD service has recently attracted external funding for additional 

fixed term employees to support core delivery including: 

 

• Outpatient Assessment Centres; Beales (BCP) and South Walks 

House (DC) 

• Rapid access support for individuals with serious mental illness 

• Digital health activation  

• Dorset Hypertension project, using tech and behavioural support to 

help individuals lower their risk of high blood pressure    

 

10.7 A key future development is the expansion of health and wellbeing hubs 

across the pan-Dorset area, building on models of care in the outpatient 

centres in Beales and South Walks House. LWD is part of a consortium bid 

to the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership, which aims to increase LWD 

capacity and support. The public health business plan sets out a piece of 

work to scope these developments and present options for the future 

direction of the service.  

 

11. Community Health Improvement (CHIS) Services 
 

11.1 This report provides an overview of the current performance of Community 

Health Improvement Services (CHIS) provided by GP practices and 

pharmacies, as well as LWD who support smoking cessation delivery.  

 

11.2 The CHIS contract process works with providers to understand delivery 

barriers, keeps up to date public-facing lists for service users, identifies 

gaps in provision and maximises service accessibility. Monitoring is in place 

for Long-Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) and smoking cessation 

services as issues with capacity and delivery can put pressure on other 

services e.g. sexual health.  

 

Commented [SC1]: what are we saying here about CHIS 
services - in a simple sentence, are we providing more, less, 
challenges etc? 

Commented [SC2R1]: this  bit is the intro, you can cut out 
if you like if members know CHIS now  - later it has a 
paragraph on each one , some picking up , drugs and alcohol 
stuff lower  

Page 39

https://livewelldorset.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/EeZLdlR52ydLgJj9vjQ_4W4BB9z5rDpH6wJZONzwAO605w?e=5CLTGP


6 
 

NHS Health Checks (NHSHC)  

 

11.3 In April 2022 the NHSHC programme re-started across Dorset and BCP 

council areas, in line with restart expectations from The Office for Health 

Inequalities and Disparities. To achieve this, the existing service 

specification extended for 1 year with 28 providers signed up (out of 103 in 

total) to deliver. Some small changes have been made to simplify the 

restart, whilst longer term plans are developed. Health Checks will be 

offered to eligible residents opportunistically instead of through written 

invitations and providers will no longer be allocated targets.  

 

11.4 Development of the programme is taking place through a re-scoping 

exercise, which is considering the findings of a national review. Insights 

from people and providers of the check will be used to develop options for 

future delivery to be considered by the Board. From this, a new service 

delivery model will be designed ready for delivery in April 2023.   

Contraceptive services 

 

11.5 Public Health Dorset commission 117 pharmacy providers to deliver an 

Emergency Hormonal Contraceptive (EHC) service. The overall levels of 

activity for EHC between April 2021 and March 2022 are higher, which is 

expected following the easing of COVID-19 restrictions. Bournemouth 

Central and Poole Bay continue to be the highest performing areas for EHC 

activity,  

 

11.6 Public Health Dorset  also commission a Long-Acting Reversible 

Contraceptive (LARC) Service. There are currently 44 active providers of 

LARC, with a further 5 recently reporting waiting lists, reduced capacity for 

delivery or provision of a limited service. Three other commissioned 

practices have confirmed they are unable to deliver the service at this time.   

 

11.7 LARC activity in Q4 shows a decrease in all procedures compared to last 

year. We continue to prioritise our focus on improving access to LARC 

through working with system partners and regional networks. We support 

GP practices without provision of LARC services by reiterating the open-

access nature of this service, encouraging referrals to other practices, 

addressing delivery issues and planning future training needs.    

 

11.8 In Q3 and Q4 of 2021/22 Bournemouth North and Poole Bay once again 

completed the highest number of LARC procedures compared with other 

localities, which has been the trend in previous years. This is likely to be 

Commented [SC3]: of how many in total? 

Commented [SC4R3]: do you meantion pharmacy and GP 
total numbers? about 100 for each id say, difficult one as 
health checks has been paused... bear with ill check   

Commented [SC5R3]: 77 GP providers 26 pharmacy and 
EDAS we have on the AQP 'with a health checks contract' in 
place  

Page 40



7 
 

due to the higher populations of reproductive aged women living in these 

areas. Those localities with lower levels of activity across each year (namely 

Mid-Dorset) have fewer providers signed up to deliver the service and lower 

need. 

  

Smoking Cessation 

 

11.9 There are 45 pharmacy and 15 GP practice providers actively delivering this 

service and we are working with and monitoring an additional 48 (mainly 

pharmacy) providers to commence delivery. The smoking cessation service 

delivery model includes virtual support and face to face appointments to 

provide flexibility and increase accessibility. 

 

11.10 Weymouth and Portland Primary Care Network (PCN) continue to see the 

greatest number of enrolments, followed by Poole Bay and Bournemouth 

North. The 2021/22 full year data shows a small increase in enrolments 

each month compared with the same period in the previous year.  

 
Needle Exchange and supervised consumption 

 

11.11 There has been a continued fall in needle exchange use since April 2020. 

Despite trying new initiatives during the pandemic, such as online needle 

exchange and vending machines in accessible locations, needle exchange 

interactions continue to fall. To understand this reduction our treatment 

provider will conduct a consultation exercise with service users during 2022 

and a plan will be put in place to promote needle exchange. This is a priority 

for 2022/23. 

 

11.12 Supervised consumption of opiate substitution therapy (OST) such as 

methadone and buprenorphine has significantly reduced since COVID-19 

restrictions were imposed and a proportion of service users moved to less 

frequent collections. Commissioners and the treatment provider continue to 

monitor activity and service user outcomes, but do not anticipate that 

supervised consumption activity will return to that seen prior to the 

pandemic. The role of pharmacies in offering supervised consumption 

remains vital however in ensuring safe provision of OST. 

 

 
12. Children and Young People’s Public Health Nursing Services (0 – 19 

years) 
 

Commented [SC6]: @Nicky Cleave what is the significance 
of this - are people moving back to street opiates instead, or 
disengaging with treatment? 

Page 41

mailto:nicky.cleave@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


8 
 

12.1 Getting a good start in life and throughout childhood, building resilience and 

getting maximum benefit from education are important markers for good 

health and wellbeing throughout life. Health visitors and school nurses have 

a crucial leadership, co-ordination and delivery role within the Healthy Child 

Programme. They work with key partners to deliver comprehensive services 

for children, young people and families.  The following is a narrative 

summary of the performance trends detailed in appendix 3: 

  
Key Performance October 2021 – March 2022   

  

12.2 Key performance measures reflect the challenges the service is facing 

during and following the pandemic, including rising levels of demand, and 

complexity against declining workforce capacity.  

 

12.3 During the period October 2021 – March 2022, teams pan-Dorset prioritised 

face to face contact with Antenatal and New Birth Visits. 99% of New Birth 

Visits were delivered by qualified Health Visitors and although some visits 

were delayed to within 16 days, 98% received a contact within 30 days.  

 

8.3 Families with greater need or vulnerability (Universal Plus and Universal 

Partnership Plus) were prioritised for face to face delivery of all mandated 

contacts and early help support, whilst families assessed as Universal need 

received support differently including through digital and/or children’s 

nurses and nursery nurses in the teams.  

 

8.4 KPIs and priorities are closely monitored via Dorset HealthCare Trust’s 

Directorate Management Group and through Public Health Dorset’s 

quarterly contract management procedures. KPI’s for Antenatal and New 

Birth visits are currently being monitored monthly and a supportive action 

was agreed to work together on demand and capacity challenges.  

   

Rising Demand  
  
8.9 The Children and Young People’s Public Health Service has seen 

significant increases in the proportion of families with children under 5 years 

who need Universal Partnership Plus and Statutory support and 

interventions. This places considerable demand on the service to attend 

additional Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPC’s), Review Child 

Protection Conferences (RCPC’s) and since the transfer of responsibility to 

frontline teams for Open Amber cases in July 2020 considerable increases 

in and rising requests to attend Strategy discussions, particularly in BCP.  

  

Page 42



9 
 

8.10 The Joint Public Health Board in February 2022 agreed additional short-

term investment to support Safeguarding capacity. It is anticipated this will 

be achieved through recruitment of additional Band 5 nurses with specific 

safeguarding skills and by upskilling the current Band 5’s workforce in 

partnership with Bournemouth University. This mitigation will require a 

minimum of 6 months to see impact on KPI’s and available capacity. 

 

  
Staff Capacity  

  

8.11 The COVID-19 self-isolation regulations impacted on staff absence rates, 

with pressure during Autumn and early Spring periods. In Quarter 3, there 

was an average absence for Health Visitors isolating due to Covid of 3.5% 

with a 5% average sickness rate.   

 

8.12 The Service has experienced increasing whole time equivalent vacancies, 

currently 15.0 WTE in Health Visiting. Feedback from staff leaving the 

service notes the rising demand and complexity of families and pressures 

from holding risk for very vulnerable families where there are emerging gaps 

in Early Help and Social Care.   

 

8.14 Recruitment challenges are prevalent across the South West region and 

Dorset Health Care has a Safer Staffing Group, overseeing a dedicated plan 

around reducing Health Visitor vacancies. The Trust have also introduced 

several measures to improve recruitment and retention, including an 

enhanced relocation expenses package for staff. 

 

8.15 Public Health are working closely with the service to consider opportunities 

for organising work aligned to need and/or communities which would 

improve both quality and role satisfaction (and retention) by increasing local 

flexibility (home visits and clinics appointments). Recruiting to a more 

diverse skill mix would fill existing vacancies with practitioners who can work 

differently with a focus on priorities and improving outcomes.    

 

8.16  The Board is asked for their assistance to: 

- include Public Health Nursing recruitment within the Integrated 

Care System workforce strategy and  

- support Public Health Dorset and Dorset HealthCare to flexibly 

use contracted resources to implement plans which develop the 

required skill mix within the service to deliver outcomes.  

 

Page 43



10 
 

Digital Access  

   
8.5 In September a confidential text message-based service for parents of 

children aged 0-5 years, called Parentline was launched. Between January 

2022 and March 2022, 5,222 messages were received by the service. 

Common reasons for contact by parents / carers are: constipation / stool 

enquiries, child physical health, sleep. Over 70% of enquiries are from 

parents with children under 1 year old, demonstrating ParentLine as a 

positive addition to providing information and advice to parents.  97% of 

respondents who contacted ParentLine said they found the conversation 

helpful. 

 

“I found this service very helpful, it’s a great to get help and advice needed without 

waiting for appointments and taking up appointments when other people may need 

them, especially when my questions could be resolved over message quickly”. 

  
8.6 Chat Health is a confidential text message-based service for older school 

aged children to seek information and advice on their health and wellbeing. 

Between January 2022 and March 2022, 1,012 messages were received by 

the service which is a significant increase over the previous quarter. Key 

reasons for contact included Emotional health and well-being / worry, 

anxiety / panic attacks, also young people testing out the service. Digital 

access through CHAT Heath is an established part of the 5-19 delivery and 

referral model.    

  

Celebrating Success  
  

8.15 The Annual Conversation recognised the positive progress and service 

improvements despite the challenges from the pandemic and workforce 

challenges including; digital delivery; delivering responsive services 

including the arrival of Afghan families under the resettlement programme; 

developing clinical leadership opportunities aligned to key priorities; scaling 

CO monitoring at mandated contacts; implementing ASQ 3 for the school 

age review and further scaling of parental mental health.   

  

8.16 In quarter 4, Public Health acknowledged the positive feedback from 
families and young people who use the Children and Young People’s Public 
Health Service. Highlights are:  

  
90% of respondents reported that the service they received was either very 
good or good, through a two-way text survey of service users.  

  

Page 44



11 
 

‘The Health Visitor listened to my experience and offered non-judgemental 
advice, reassured my concerns, and laid out where support is availability 
if/when we need it..’   

  
‘I feel well looked after and like my Health Visitor has plenty of time for us, 
has given lots of great advice and reassurance..’   

  
97% of respondents who had their appointment through Attend Anywhere 
rated their experience of their video appointment as either very good or 
good.   
  
81% would choose video appointments in the future. Feedback noted some 
challenges with technology, some families felt the interaction with their child 
was missed through virtual appointments whilst others were pleased with 
the convenience but also noted the care and attention given through an 
appointment using the digital platform.  

  
‘I felt she was listening to and interested in everything I was saying. She 

was very knowledgeable and helped me with my concerns, recommending 
relevant websites and information. The call connected really well and 

there were no IT issues at all’  

 

‘For a child's development I would prefer her to be seen in person in case I 
am not picking up on something to report’.  

  
Future Commissioning Plans  

  

8.17 The contract was awarded on a 3+2+2-year basis and there is a contract 

Break Clause prior to the contract extension from 1st October 2022 – 30th 

September 2024. This is an important opportunity to reflect on progress, 

impact, and future priorities. Engagement with stakeholders was initiated 

through the Annual Conversations in November and January with the 

following priorities proposed: addressing inequalities and wider 

determinants of health especially recovery from the impact of the Covid-19 

pandemic; early identification and core capacity to deliver a robust Healthy 

Child offer (0-19); developing a sustainable workforce and system public 

health offer and a focus on key transitions including better utilising the 

National Childhood Measurement Programme at year 6.  

 

8.18 Public Health is working closely with Dorset HealthCare to review and 

develop the requisite Contract Variation, for years 4 and 5 and this process 

will include workshops to focus on quality and improvement opportunities 

including Payment by Results priorities and outcomes, Key Performance 

Page 45



12 
 

Indicators and quality assurance reporting, workforce demand and capacity 

and a importantly engagement with frontline staff.  

   
For the joint public health board to note:  

  

8.19 The service continues to provide a high level of coverage for the Universal 

Mandated checks from Antenatal to age 5 years with priority given to 

Antenatal and New Birth Visits. There continues to be significant 

participation in Early Help through a skill-mixed team to deliver evidence-

based interventions and support for more vulnerable families. The service 

has achieved positive progress and impact against the four key priorities of 

the service; smoking cessation; school readiness; physical activity and 

emotional and mental health.  

  

8.20 The service is experiencing significant challenges from rising demand and 

workforce retention in delivering a full Healthy Child Programme. Demands 

from additional safeguarding expectations and presentations places 

pressure on teams and there is an opportunity cost against prevention and 

early intervention, which reduce risk and minimise families escalating into 

statutory services. Commitment from partners is sought to ensure universal 

proportionate approaches can be implemented and risks for vulnerable 

families can be jointly held.  

  

 
 
Sam Crowe  
Director of Public Health  
 

Page 46



P
age 47



P
age 48



P
age 49



P
age 50



Appendix 2  

Key performance data October 2021 – March 2022  :Mandated contacts  
   

Indicator  BCP  Dorset  
England 

Average*  

   
Oct – 

Dec 21  
Jan – Mar 

22  
Oct – Dec 

21  
Jan – Mar 

22  
Oct – Dec 

21  

% of mothers receiving a first face to face 
antenatal contact with a Health Visitor    

34%  35%  67%  65%  -  

% of all births that receive a face to face NBV 
within 14 days by a Health Visitor   

50%  52%  89%  81%  82.7%  

% of children who received a 6-8-week review 
by the time they were 8 weeks   

93%  95%  95%  91%  80.9%  

% of children who received a 12-month review 
by age 12 months   

89%  92%  90%  86%  70.9%  

% of children who received a 12-month review 
by age 15 months   

90%  92%  91%  91%  81.4%  

% of children who received a 2-2½ year review 
by age 2½   

84%  87%  87%  85%  72.3%  

% of children due 2-2½ year review for whom 
ASQ-3 is completed as part of review   

97%  96%  98%  96%  92.0%  

% of children who received a 2-2½ year review 
using ASQ-3 who were at or above the expected 
level in all five domains   

89%  91%  87%  91%  83.6%  

* Latest published and verified data from OHID  

 

Digital Access : Parent Line 

 

 

Digital Access : Chat Health  

 

 

 

Page 51



Challenges for the Service: Rising Demand  

 

 

 

 

Strategy Discussion Requests  

 

 

Page 52



   Quarterly Totals    

   BCP  Dorset  Pan Dorset    

Q1  125  37  162  

  

  
  

Q2  106  40  146  
  

  
  

Q3  98  58  156  

  

  

  

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People’s Public Health Nursing Services (0 – 19 years) 

  
Getting a good start in life and throughout childhood, building resilience and getting 
maximum benefit from education are important markers for good health and wellbeing 
throughout life. Health visitors and school nurses have a crucial leadership, co-
ordination and delivery role within the Healthy Child Programme. They work with key 
partners to deliver comprehensive services for children, young people and families.  
 
KEY PERFORMANCE DATA OCTOBER 2021 – MARCH 2022  
 
Mandated contacts 
  

Indicator BCP Dorset England 
Average* 

  
Oct – 

Dec 21 
Jan – 

Mar 22 
Oct – 

Dec 21 
Jan – 

Mar 22 
Oct – 

Dec 21 
% of mothers receiving a first face to face antenatal 
contact with a Health Visitor   34% 35% 67% 65% - 

% of all births that receive a face to face NBV within 14 
days by a Health Visitor  50% 52% 89% 81% 82.7% 

% of children who received a 6-8-week review by the 
time they were 8 weeks  93% 95% 95% 91% 80.9% 

% of children who received a 12-month review by age 
12 months  

89% 92% 90% 86% 70.9% 

% of children who received a 12-month review by age 
15 months  90% 92% 91% 91% 81.4% 

% of children who received a 2-2½ year review by age 
2½  84% 87% 87% 85% 72.3% 

% of children due 2-2½ year review for whom ASQ-3 is 
completed as part of review  97% 96% 98% 96% 92.0% 

% of children who received a 2-2½ year review using 
ASQ-3 who were at or above the expected level in all 
five domains  

89% 91% 87% 91% 83.6% 

* Latest published and verified data from OHID 
 

Business Continuity plans were enacted within Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole 

teams as an amber risk at the Contract review Meeting (CRM) held on the 28th April 

2021. Measures were further enacted pan Dorset and escalated as a red risk in 

September 2021 as Health Visitor capacity became further outstripped by demand.  

Families at Universal Plus and Universal Partnership Plus were prioritised for contact 

and support, and Universal offers were delivered differently, including digital and skill 

mix. New Birth Visits were protected with 99% delivered by qualified Health Visitors 

and the contact target date extended to 16 days, with 98% or more receiving a contact 

within 30 days between October 2021 and March 2022. 

KPIs and business continuity are monitored via Dorset HealthCare Trust’s Directorate 

Management Group and reported in the Trust Board Performance Summary for 

internal oversight and monitoring and through Public Health Dorset’s quarterly 

contracting and commissioning procedures. In January 2022 a Contract Notice Query 

was issued and KPI’s for Antenatal and New Birth visits are being reported and 

monitored monthly complemented with further supportive action to address rising 

demand and capacity challenges. 

Page 55



 
Digital Access 

  
In September a confidential text message-based service for parents of children aged 
0-5 years, called Parentline was launched. Between 1 January 2022 and 31 March 
2022, 5,222 messages were received by DHC’s ParentLine service. Some of the most 
common reasons why parents / carers are contacting ParentLine are: constipation / 
stool enquiries, child physical health, sleep. Over 70% of enquiries are from parents 
with children under 1 year old, demonstrating ParentLine as a really positive addition 
to providing information and advice to parents of this significant age group. 
 

 
 
97% of respondents who contacted ParentLine said they found the conversation 
helpful. “I found this service very helpful…..it’s a great to get help and advice needed 
without waiting for appointments and taking up appointments when other people may 
need them, especially when my questions could be resolved over message quickly”. 
 
Chat Health is a confidential text message-based service for older school aged 
children to seek information and advice on their health and wellbeing. Between 1 
January 2022 and 31 March 2022 1,012 messages were received by DHC’s 
ChatHealth service which is a significant increase over the previous quarter. Some of 
the most common reasons why young people are contacting ChatHealth: Emotional 
health and well-being / worry, anxiety / panic attacks, also young people testing out 
the service. Digital access through CHAT Heath is an established part of the 5-19 
delivery and referral model for face-to-face or Attend Anywhere (virtual) appointment 
with a School Nurse. 
 

Page 56



  
  
CHALLENGES FOR THE SERVICE 
 
As the key Performance Data indicated there are some significant challenges for the 
Children and Young People’s Public Health Service, notably rising demand, and staff 
capacity. This section of the report provides additional evidence of the challenges and 
outlines plans which seek to mitigate risk. However, the Board should note, plans may 
require long term and systemic commitment to change. 
 
Rising Demand 
 
The Children and Young People’s Public Health Service have seen significant 
increases in the proportion of families with children under 5 years who need Universal 
Partnership Plus and Statutory support and interventions. This places considerable 
demand on the service to attend additional Initial Child Protection Conferences 
(ICPC’s), Review Child Protection Conferences (RCPC’s) and since the transfer of 
responsibility to frontline teams for Open Amber cases in July 2020 considerable 
increases in and rising requests to attend Strategy discussions, particularly in BCP. 
 

 

Page 57



 

 
 
  

  
 

  Quarterly Totals 

  BCP Dorset Pan Dorset 

Q1 125 37 162 
  

Q2 106 40 146 
 

  

Q3 98 58 156 

 

 

 

 
 
The Joint Public Health Board in February 2022 agreed additional short-term 
investment to support Safeguarding capacity. It is anticipated this will be achieved 
through recruitment of additional Band 5 nurses with specific safeguarding skills and 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Strategy Meeting Attendances (CYPPHS)

HV BCP SN BCP HV Dorset SN Dorset

Page 58



by upskilling the current Band 5’s workforce in partnership with Bournemouth 
University by delivering an accredited Safeguarding professional development course. 
Staff Capacity 
 

In line with many frontline services, the Covid-19 self-isolation regulations impacted on staff 

absence rates, with particular pressure during the Autumn and early Spring periods. In Quarter 

3, there was an average absence for Health Visitors isolating due to Covid of 3.5% with a 5% 

average sickness rate.  

The Service has experienced increasing whole time equivalent vacancies, currently 15.0 WTE 

in Health Visiting. Feedback from staff leaving the service notes the rising demand and 

complexity of families and pressures from holding risk for very vulnerable families where there 

are emerging gaps in Early Help support. Public Health are working closely with the service to 

consider opportunities for organising work aligned to need and/or communities which would 

potentially improve both quality and role satisfaction (and retention) and increasing local 

flexibility (home visits and clinics appointments). 

The Board should be aware that Antenatal and New Birth Visits are only delivered by SCPHN 

qualified Health Visitors, which means where there are staff absences or vacancies inevitably 

impacted on these two mandated contacts, where other contacts can and are delivered by a 

skill mix of staff within the service. 

Recruitment challenges are prevalent across the South West region and Dorset Health Care 

has a Safer Staffing Group, overseeing a dedicated plan around reducing Health Visitor 

vacancies. The Trust have also introduced several measures to improve recruitment and 

retention, including an enhanced relocation expenses package for staff. It is recognised that 

recruitment to nursing vacancies across specialisms is challenging and seek the Board’s 

support in seeking assistance from Integrated Care System recruitment strategies. 

 

CELEBRATING SUCCESS 
 
The Annual Conversation recognised the positive progress and service improvements despite 
the challenges from the pandemic and workforce challenges including; digital delivery; 
delivering responsive services including the arrival of Afghan families under the resettlement 
programme; developing clinical leadership opportunities aligned to key priorities; scaling CO 
monitoring at mandated contacts; implementing ASQ 3 for the school age review and further 
scaling of parental mental health.  
 
In quarter 4, Public Health acknowledged the positive feedback from families and young 
people who use the Children and Young People’s Public Health Service. Highlights are: 
 

• 90% of respondents reported that the service they received was either very good or 
good, through a two-way text survey of service users. 

 

The Health Visitor listened to my experience and offered non-judgemental advice, 
reassured my concerns, and laid out where support is availability if/when we need it  
 
I feel well looked after and like my Health Visitor has plenty of time for us, has given lots 
of great advice and reassurance  

 

Page 59



• 97% of respondents who had their appointment through Attend Anywhere rated their 
experience of their video appointment as either very good or good.  
 

• 81% would choose video appointments in the future. Feedback noted some challenges 
with technology, some families felt the interaction with their child was missed through 
virtual appointments whilst others were pleased with the convenience but also noted 
the care and attention given through an appointment using the digital platform. 

 

I felt she was listening to and interested in everything I was saying. She was very 
knowledgeable and helped me with my concerns, recommending relevant websites and 
information. The call connected really well and there were no IT issues at all  
 
For a child's development I would prefer her to be seen in person in case I am not picking 
up on something to report.  

 
FUTURE COMMISSIONING PLANS 
 
There is a contract Break Clause prior to years 4 and 5 for the Service. This is an 
important opportunity to reflect on progress, impact, and future priorities. Engagement 
with stakeholders was initiated through the Annual Conversations in November and 
January with the following priorities proposed: addressing inequalities and wider 
determinants of health especially recovery from the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic; 
early identification and core capacity to deliver a robust Healthy Child offer (0-19); 
developing a sustainable workforce and system public health offer and a focus on key 
transitions including better utilising the National Childhood Measurement Programme 
at year 6. 

Public Health is working closely with Dorset HealthCare to review and develop the 
requisite Contract Variation, for years 4 and 5 and this process will include workshops 
to focus on quality and improvement opportunities including Payment by Results 
priorities and outcomes, Key Performance Indicators and quality assurance reporting, 
workforce demand and capacity and a importantly engagement with frontline staff. 
 
 
FOR THE JOINT PUBLIC HEALTH BOARD TO NOTE: 

 
The service continues to provide a high level of coverage for the Universal Mandated 
checks from Antenatal to age 5 years with priority given to Antenatal and New Birth 
Visits. There continues to be significant participation in Early Help through a skill-mixed 
team to deliver evidence-based interventions and support for more vulnerable families. 
The service has achieved positive progress and impact against the four key priorities 
of the service; smoking cessation; school readiness; physical activity and emotional 
and mental health. 
 
The service is experiencing significant challenges from rising demand and workforce 
retention in delivering a full Healthy Child Programme. Demands from additional 
safeguarding expectations and presentations places pressure on teams and there is 
an opportunity cost against prevention and early intervention, which reduce risk and 
minimise families escalating into statutory services. Commitment from partners is 
sought to ensure universal proportionate approaches can be implemented and risks 
for vulnerable families can be jointly held. 

Page 60



  
 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Four: Celebrating success and user experience feedback  

 
Highlights of the positive feedback from families and young people who use the 

Children and Young People’s Public Health Service:   
   

90% of respondents reported that the service they received was either very 
good or good, through a two-way text survey of service users.   

   
‘The Health Visitor listened to my experience and offered non-judgemental 
advice, reassured my concerns, and laid out where support is availability 
if/when we need it..’    

   
‘I feel well looked after and like my Health Visitor has plenty of time for us, has 
given lots of great advice and reassurance..’    

   
97% of respondents who had their appointment through Attend Anywhere rated 
their experience of their video appointment as either very good or good.    
   
81% would choose video appointments in the future. Feedback noted some 
challenges with technology, some families felt the interaction with their child 
was missed through virtual appointments whilst others were pleased with the 
convenience but also noted the care and attention given through an 
appointment using the digital platform.   

   
‘I felt she was listening to and interested in everything I was saying. She was 

very knowledgeable and helped me with my concerns, recommending 
relevant websites and information. The call connected really well and there 

were no IT issues at all’   
  

‘For a child's development I would prefer her to be seen in person in case I 
am not picking up on something to report’.   

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
Joint Public Health Board 
Business plan update 30 May 2022 
 

For Recommendation to Council 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr P Wharf, Adult Social Care and Health, Dorset Council 
Cllr M Iyengar, Tourism and Active Health, Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council 

 
Local Councillor(s): All  

Executive Director:  Sam Crowe, Director of Public Health    
     
Report Author:  Sam Crowe, Sarah Longdon  
Title: Director of Public Health, Head of Service Planning 
Tel: 01305 224400 
Email: sam.crowe@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk; 

sarah.longdon@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk   
 
Report Status:  Public 

Recommendations: The Joint Public Health Board is asked to support the 

following recommendations: 

1) Agree the Public Health Dorset business plan and priority work 

programmes for 2022-23. 

 

2) Consider developing the forward plan for the board based on the work 

programmes included in Appendix B.  

  
Reason for Recommendation: Recovery from the pandemic and the move to 
Living with COVID-19 has now allowed the public health team to take stock and 
consider priorities for the coming year. Previous attempts at finalising the 
business plan were hampered by a high degree of uncertainty, plus ongoing 
responsibilities for responding to COVID-19. Publishing the high-level plan, and 
an outline timeline showing key deliverables for our work for 2022-23 is an 
important step in delivering an effective service. This is because so much of our 
work relies on collaboration with other organisations in our system.  
The forward plan for the Joint Public Health Board can be populated over a 
longer time period based on this business plan. The business plan will be a key 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10

mailto:sam.crowe@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.longdon@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


2 
 

document in ensuring early Member engagement with the work of the team 
during 2022-23.  
 
1. Executive Summary  

This short report introduces the public health business plan for 22-23, with 

a recommendation that the Joint Public Health Board agree publication. 

Since the 16 February Board meeting, the team has undertaken significant 

work to clarify our role and purpose, especially given the changes coming 

this summer with the formal launch of integrated care systems.  

In addition, the plan identifies the top 10 work programmes following a 

prioritisation exercise, which will help align capacity and resources to 

delivery over the coming year.  

Appendix A contains the main report, showing how we are organising our 

work.  

Appendix B sets out a high-level delivery timeline with more detail about 

some of the programmes and outputs that will need to be delivered in this 

financial year.  

Going forwards, future board meetings will receive a monitoring report 

setting out progress against these deliverables.  

2. Financial Implications 
No direct financial implications arise from this report.  

   
3. Climate implications 

N/A 
 
4. Other Implications 

N/A 
 
5. Risk Assessment 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk 

has been identified as: 

Current Risk:  LOW 

Residual Risk:  LOW 

 
6. Equalities Impact Assessment 

EQIA Assessments form part of commissioning for all public health 

services and are published in accordance with Dorset Council guidance. 

 
7. Appendices 

Appendix A – Public Health Dorset business plan for 22-23. 

Page 66



3 
 

Appendix B – Indicative timeline of deliverables from the priority work 

programmes.  

 
8. Background Papers 

None.  
 

1 Background 

 

1.1. This short report provides an update on the development of the 22-23 

business plan and monitoring report, and some of the programmes and key 

pieces of work that will need to be delivered next year.  

 

1.2. The capacity of the public health team to work on non-COVID-19 

programmes has improved significantly with the change in national 

strategy, and also the lessening of the impact of the Omicron wave(s). 

 

1.3. Over the past two months it has been possible to agree our business plan, 

with a renewed role and purpose. The plan is not intended to capture in 

detail everything that the team is involved in. Instead it is looking forwards 

at what will need to be delivered, based on an understanding of national 

policy changes, commissioning needs, and local system requirements. 

Overall it provides a clear framework for how we organise public health 

work, and is designed to help with effective and efficient management, and 

engagement of our partners.  

 

2 Development of the 2022-2023 business plan 

 

2.1. The final plan now contains an updated list of priority work programmes, 

 following priority setting meetings undertaken by the senior team. This will 

 be used to better understand how our capacity should be used through the 

 year, in order to achieve our key deliverables.   

  

2.2. Further work is ongoing to develop the work programmes that were 

considered high priority, based on an understanding of the changing level 

of needs as we emerge from the pandemic. For example, mental health was 

considered to be a high priority. Previously we have been providing 

elements of mental health prevention work (e.g. training and awareness of 

suicide prevention), working with system partners. However, we have not 

previously developed and resourced a co-ordinated mental health 

Page 67



4 
 

prevention programme that brings together all relevant activity into a single 

plan that will give greater visibility and cohesion.  

 

3 Risks and challenges – update 

 

3.1. Recent high staff turnover and a large number of fixed term positions may 

result in loss of knowledge and expertise at a time of significant change. 

We are developing a skills and development strategy to mitigate this by 

providing opportunities and a clear career path for our team members. 

 

3.2. Uncertainty about future expectations around health protection roles and 

responsibilities makes it more difficult to stabilise the team structure in the 

short term whilst we wait for the national government review to be 

published. It may be difficult to clarify what the Public Health Dorset team 

roles and functions are in relation to health protection compared with the 

roles of UKHSA, NHSEI and the Dorset Integrated Care System. Due to 

considerable system change and restructuring within UKHSA, there will be 

the need to continue to support the COVID-19, and potentially other health 

protection response in the short term. 

 

3.3. Integrated Care System work is a new and emerging pressure as we have 

not previously supported health organisations to a similar extent in recent 

years. For example, we are providing capacity to lead the development of 

the ICP strategy, Health Inequalities Strategy, as well as population health 

management work, and ongoing needs assessment work. It is essential 

we have a good understanding of our ability not to over-commit, in order to 

maintain a balance in delivering the rest of our business plan.  

   

4 Conclusion and recommendations 

4.1. This short paper provides an update on the development of 

business planning for Public Health Dorset. Board members are asked to 

agree the business plan, noting the workstream priorities in Appendix B. In 

addition, the Board is asked to develop the forward plan for the board 

based on the business plan for 22-23.   

 
 
 
Sam Crowe  
Director of Public Health  

Page 68



Public Health 
Dorset
BUSINESS PLAN 2022-23

P
age 69



What is public health? 

 Public health has been described as 'the art and science of 
protecting and improving health through the organised 
efforts of society'. Using this definition, it is clear that much 
of our work cannot be delivered in isolation. 

 To deliver effective improvements in health and wellbeing, 
and to reduce inequalities in health outcomes, it is essential 
that we work with and through our main partnerships – two 
unitary councils, and the health organisations that comprise 
the Dorset Integrated Care System – and with our 
communities. 

 Many of the interventions that are delivered through the 
public health function look to have impacts on the whole 
population, rather than individuals, and are concerned with 
preventing the causes of ill-health.

P
age 70



Who we are

 Public Health Dorset is a shared service that supports Dorset and 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Councils to fulfil 
their legal duty to improve the health and wellbeing of 
residents, and reduce inequalities in health outcomes between 
different communities. 

 To deliver this public health function requires a diverse team of 
specialists, supported by locality workers, project and 
programme managers, communications and intelligence roles. 

P
age 71



What we do 

 We commission and provide public health services funded from a ring-fenced grant of around 
£35million received via each council, of which Public Health Dorset will receive £25.6million in 22/23.

 These services and their performance are overseen by the Joint Public Health Board – a shared 
Cabinet including councillors and representatives from both councils that makes decisions on how we 
use our resources effectively, efficiently and equitably.

 We also work with partners to influence the development and delivery of wider prevention work, 
including the NHS Long Term Plan ambitions on smoking, alcohol and healthy weight in NHS settings. 

 As Integrated Care Systems take shape, we anticipate that our work in the system will grow this year, 
as we support the development of a new strategy, continue to work on the NHS health inequalities 
programme, and deliver an effective Joint Strategic Needs Assessment process for our Health and 
Wellbeing Boards.

P
age 72



What we do 

 In delivering an effective public health function for both councils, much of our work is supporting action to improve 
the upstream causes of ill-health and inequality – sometimes called the wider determinants of health. 

 Through the Health and Wellbeing Boards, and support to corporate plans, we work closely with teams responsible 
for improving physical activity through active and sustainable travel, better housing and ensuring access to 
improvements like insulation and heating, as well as important initiatives to reduce the prevalence of suicide and 
increase awareness of steps people can take for better mental health. 

 We remain closely involved with colleagues working in children's and adult's services to ensure a best start in life 
for children and families and promote greater independence and wellbeing in older life. 

 As a public health team we cannot undertake this work without effective support from our communications, 
intelligence and business support colleagues, so parts of our business are also about how we improve our 
effectiveness in the planning and delivery of public health work in our local system.

P
age 73



How we work: This diagram sets out the ways we work to deliver on 
our aims and objectives

P
age 74



Engaging our stakeholders

 A key part of our role is to work closely with partners and the 
public to influence and achieve the aims in this business plan

 We will communicate and engage effectively with partners 
across the system and at a local level, and ensure that we keep 
our colleagues and residents informed and involved

 We’ll tailor our engagement plans based on needs and 
interests to facilitate effective two-way communication 

 Communication and engagement is a key responsibility for the 
whole team alongside formal communications channels

 This will enable us to co-design programmes and services with 
our partners and communities to make sure they are making 
the biggest difference where it’s most needed

P
age 75



Engaging our stakeholders

We want to engage with these 

stakeholders to be ambassadors for 

our work:

All councillors

Voluntary sector

ICS leads

Local MPs

Integrated Care Board

Closely involving and engaging 

these stakeholders in our work will 

help them take leadership on 

our aims and objectives:

Lead councillors

Health and Wellbeing Board chairs

Chief Executives

System leaders
We want these stakeholders to

be involved wherever possible 

to help us deliver targeted 

work:

Contracts

Providers

Council colleagues

Education settings

Community groups

We'll keep these stakeholders up to 

date to help us shape our work:

Local Pharmaceutical Committee

Local Medical Committee

Public and service users

Public health team

Regional boards

P
age 76



The context

 COVID-19 had a disproportionate impact on parts of our communities already suffering inequalities. Infection rates 
and deaths were higher in some ethnic minority groups. Others were at greater risk of infection because of their 
living conditions and occupations. The take up of preventive measures like vaccination was unequal across different 
communities, age groups and ethnic groups too. 

 We must learn from this to co-create services that genuinely engage all, so health inequalities will be a large focus 
of our work in public health when understanding how best to recover from the pandemic. 

 A significant challenge in understanding and tackling health inequalities will be the current cost of living crisis – with 
concerns about the affordability of adequate good quality food and heating affecting a growing proportion of our 
local population. 

P
age 77



The context

 In terms of health and wellbeing issues, more people in our local populations are reporting feelings 
of anxiety, and poorer wellbeing, especially at younger ages. 

 The proportion of children and young people with a probable mental health disorder increased 
significantly in 2020 compared with 2017, and remains higher in 2021 with one in six having a 
probable mental health disorder. In 2017 this proportion was one in 9 children and young people. 

 Physical activity levels have been lower over the past two years, and consumption of alcohol rose in 
some groups significantly during the pandemic, with a 20 per cent rise in deaths due to alcoholic 
liver disease.

P
age 78



The context

 Many of the health issues mentioned in this plan contribute to local 
variation in healthy life expectancy – the amount of time you can expect 
to live free from disease or disability. This continues to be an issue 
in Dorset, and is associated with area deprivation scores. 

 In England, women living in the most deprived areas have a healthy life 
expectancy at birth of 51.4 years compared with 71.2 years for women 
living in the least deprived – a difference of 19.7 years. For men, the 
difference is 18.4 years. This is one area where working with NHS and 
care and support services could make a difference in narrowing this gap, 
particularly for those living in our most deprived areas. 

Source: The Health Foundation - Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 
at birth by deprivation

52.3

51.4

70.7

71.2

Least deprived Most deprived

M
en

W
o

m
en

Healthy life expectancy (years)

P
age 79

https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/health-inequalities/life-expectancy-and-healthy-life-expectancy-at-birth-by-deprivation


The context

 Other significant national policy areas that will underpin our 
business include the expected White Paper on 
Health Disparities, and supporting our local councils to 
understand how best to implement initiatives to 'level up' 
communities – this remains a priority under each Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

 Local policy areas where we expect to be engaged include 
the development and refresh of Local Plans for each Council 
– offering a real opportunity to consider how to create high 
quality spaces, homes and sustainable travel for health.

 Last but certainly not least of our drivers in this business 
plan is the increasing pace and importance of sustainability 
and its impact on health, driven by the climate and 
ecological emergency.

P
age 80



”

“
Dorset is a county of vibrant, connected communities 
that prioritise mental and physical health and wellbeing. 

All people in Dorset live healthy and fulfilled lives for as 
long as possible, and disparities are minimal. 

Dorset’s health and care system embeds public health 
interventions to make the most of early opportunities to 
improve and protect health.

OUR VISION

P
age 81



Our mission

We will 
achieve our 
vision by:

Being an effective system partner and advocate for the wellbeing of Dorset 
Council and BCP Council residents

Supporting the transformation of our integrated care system to improve the 
health of our population and tackle inequalities in health outcomes

Working with partners and communities to embed prevention approaches in 
health and care

Maintaining a resilient and responsive team, able to respond flexibly to 
challenges and change

Ensuring our public health services are effective, efficient and equitable

P
age 82



Our aims:
Two overarching aims shape the work of our team

Protecting and improving health Health inequalities

• Interventions at a population level that enable people to 
improve their health – with an equal focus on mental and 
physical health 

• Targeted work to make the biggest difference based on 
evidence of needs. 

• Work with partners to reduce the threat from infectious 
disease and environmental hazards. 

• Expert public health advice and guidance to colleagues 
across the system 

• Learn about individuals’, groups’ and communities’ 
experience and needs and facilitate public health 
programmes that work best for them. 

• Every child born across Dorset should have the same 
opportunities to thrive and every person should spend the 
same time in good health. 

• Determinants of good health include a range of issues like 
income, work, access to health services and housing. 

• We will put our greatest focus on where we can reduce the 
healthy life expectancy gap the most.

P
age 83



Our objectives: 
Our work is organised into four key domains

Health improvement – Promoting healthy 
behaviours to support people to improve their 
physical and mental wellbeing, focusing on 
making the biggest difference to those with 
the greatest need.

Health protection – Keeping people safe from 
infectious diseases and other health hazards.

Healthcare public health - Using our technical 
skills to influence the health and care system to 
improve the way resources are used to meet 
population health needs, and improving access 
and outcomes from health and care services.

Healthy places - Increasing the contribution 
of our built and natural environments to 
improving population health and tackling 
health inequalities.

P
age 84



Our objectives: Health improvement

 We promote healthy behaviours to support people to improve their physical and mental wellbeing.

 We work with communities and partners to make the biggest difference to those with the greatest need.

What does this mean?

Why is this important?

How will we do this?

•Identify the key groups we need to work with and understand the best ways to work with them
•Ensure health improvement is included as standard in partner organisations’ plans
•Provide and commission effective services, tailoring support to level of need
•Create resources and environments where people can support their own wellbeing

Healthy lifestyle is a key factor in most health outcomes. Many aspects of wellbeing are intrinsically linked: for example, 
good mental health generally enables people to make good choices for their physical health, helping them to thrive.

P
age 85



Our objectives: Health protection

We work to keep people safe from infectious diseases and other health hazards.

What does this mean?

Why is this important?

How will we do this?

•Plan and respond to future risks from infectious diseases including COVID-19
•Continue efforts to understand and improve inequalities in COVID-19 vaccine uptake
•Encourage uptake of routine immunisations such as flu and MMR, with a particular focus on inequalities
•Conduct surveillance and horizon scanning for threats to health
•Maintain a communications presence as a trusted voice on health protection and tackle misinformation

By managing risks and building resilience, we can minimise serious harm and deaths related to these health 
hazards by protecting the most vulnerable, whilst minimising inequalities and improving outcomes for all.

P
age 86



Our objectives: Healthcare public health

We use our technical skills to influence the health and care system to improve the way resources are used to meet 
population health needs. Improve access and outcomes from health and care services

What does this mean?

Why is this important?

How will we do this?

•Be clear on our role in the Integrated Care System (ICS) and what partners can expect from each other
•Connect our team with a clear mission on what we want to achieve as a team and a system
•Deliver the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment programme and the Integrated Care Partnership strategy
•Embed Population Health Management function in the ICS
•Reengage our relationship with partners in primary care

We can’t achieve our aims alone, so it’s critical that we work as a system to improve health and wellbeing 
outcomes amongst our population by engaging system leaders and workforce. By taking this system-wide 
approach, we can make sure that public health interventions reach those most in need.

P
age 87



Our objectives: Healthy places

The places in which we live, work and play have significant impact on our health and wellbeing. We should all have 
access to good housing, contact with nature, and be able to choose active and sustainable ways to travel.

What does this mean?

Why is this important?

How will we do this?

• Develop local insights into the role of the environment in health and wellbeing outcomes and health inequalities
• Work with our partners to develop policy and action that enhances the quality of the built & natural 

environment
• Work with our partners across the ICS, including the VCSE, to increase access to and engagement with natural 

environments

By enhancing the quality of the built and natural environments and reducing inequalities we can create Healthy 
Places which support the health & wellbeing of people in BCP & Dorset.

P
age 88



Our role in the wider system

As a health and care system we have shared aims and objectives on improving the health of our population. We 
can’t deliver the change we want to see by ourselves, and our role is to lead and influence system-wide work to 
help achieve our aims and objectives. 

Public health 
team

P
age 89



Our role in Dorset’s health and care system

 The formation of Integrated Care Systems later this year is a major policy change nationally to 
promote a more collaborative approach to health, care and prevention, with a drive to understand 
how to involve people and communities in living healthier for longer.

 The Integrated Care Partnership brings these system partners together in a formal structure to do 
this. We have been asked to lead on the development of a strategy for the ICP which will set the 
direction for the system for the next few years.

 The transformation of the system provides an opportunity to embed our aims, objectives and 
priorities from the outset.

P
age 90



Our role in Dorset’s health and care system

The public health team expects to be supporting our local system to implement these changes through several 
important areas of business:

 developing a strategy for the integrated care system

 embedding a population health management approach

 supporting strong place-based partnerships working with communities to take on health and care planning and 
improve outcomes for residents 

 establishing a new partnership to support the national drug strategy, from Harm to Hope 

 continuing to deliver a range of prevention initiatives in NHS settings

 continuing to work with partners on health protection response – including COVID-19

P
age 91



Our work 
programme

Our programmes and services are 
many and varied. We lead or are 
involved in many activities that 
support our aims and objectives.

In order to be effective we need to 
prioritise our efforts, time and 
resources to ensure the best 
outcomes and optimum results.

We have prioritised our work 
programme for this year, thinking 
about things that are new and 
emerging or that are time-critical this 
year, as well as established work. We 
will keep our most important areas of 
work under review and we will adjust 
these priorities as our world evolves 
and we track progress.

P
age 92



Health 
Improvement

• Healthy Child 
Programme

• Mental Health

• Drugs and 
Alcohol

• Healthy 
Lifestyles 
Support

• Sexual Health

Health 
Protection

• Prevention 
and control of 
infectious 
diseases

Healthy Places

• Built 
Environment 
and Local 
Plans

Healthcare 
Public Health

• Health 
Inequalities

• Joint Strategic 
Needs 
Assessment

• Population 
Health 
Management

Key work programmes:
We continue to work across many areas, but we have identified these key priorities as a focus for the year ahead. 

P
age 93



Key work programmes

 Healthy Child Programme (Health Improvement)

Ensuring every child gets the good start they need to lay the foundations of a healthy life

 Mental Health (Health Improvement)

Promoting good mental health and working to prevent deaths by suicide

 Health Inequalities (Healthcare Public Health) 

Working across the system to address avoidable differences in people's health across the population and between specific population groups

 Built Environment and Local Plans (Healthy Places)

Engaging with the councils' local plan process to ensure new development promotes health and wellbeing and takes advantage of opportunities to 
reduce health inequalities

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (Healthcare Public Health)

Working with the Health and Wellbeing Boards to identify key issues and develop their Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies in response to these

P
age 94



Key work programmes

 Prevention and control of infectious diseases (Health Protection)

Reducing exposure to and risks from infectious diseases and responding effectively to any outbreaks

 Population Health Management (Healthcare Public Health) 

Using data to understand population health needs and predicting future needs

 Drugs and Alcohol (Health Improvement)

Reducing risks from substance misuse and improving health outcomes

 Healthy Lifestyles Support (Health Improvement)

Encouraging healthy lifestyle behaviours like physical activity, stopping smoking, healthy diets and reducing alcohol intake

 Sexual Health (Health Improvement)

Commissioning effective sexual health services including contraception support, STI testing and HIV diagnosis and care

P
age 95



Our functions:
Helping us to deliver our aims and objectives

We review the way we work regularly and adjust to meet the needs of our plans. Our core functions within the Public Health team are: 

• Programmes – planning and delivering our core programmes working with our partners and communities

• Services – delivering high quality services directly to our customers, and evolving our offer based on their input and feedback

• Commissioning – contracting some key services to professionals who understand our needs and those of our customers, to deliver 
well on our behalf 

• Localities – engaging with primary care networks, local organisations and communities to champion and deliver on our priorities

• Intelligence, data and insights – using technology, data and latest methods to understand our population needs and ensure our 
work is targeted where most needed

• Comms & engagement – collaborating with our partners, colleagues and customers, sharing relevant information clearly, and 
facilitating knowledge

• Business support – ensuring our team is efficient, organised and working within our means, with clear processes, strategies and 
systems

Our recruitment, training and development plans will help us be fit for purpose, with the right balance of skills and resource across 
these functions, and we will look to grow our own talent wherever possible and supplement our team when needed.

P
age 96



Our values:
These values guide the way we work together to achieve our goals

We support and respect each other

We understand and work towards our 

shared goals

We continue to learn and develop

We are inclusive and equitable

We are agile and flexible

We communicate openly and clearly

P
age 97



Measuring our 

success

 This business plan sets out our long term aims and 
objectives and we are at the beginning of the process 
of embedding them in our work as a team and with 
the wider system as we establish the new system 
structures.

 To measure our success, we’ll focus on the outcomes 
and impacts of our work. We have clear delivery 
programmes with clear aims and appropriate 
resource. Our approach is data and evidence driven to 
ensure we can make the biggest impact.

 We’ll establish key indicators and targets for our 
priorities, with the aim of defining key measures and 
milestones for each objective by October 2022.

 By this time, we’ll understand clearly defined roles 
within the system and establish the responsibilities 
each partner holds.

P
age 98



Work programme: Health Improvement
Programme Activity Due date

Healthy Child Programme Mobilisation and implementation of the Pause programme in Dorset Council. from June 2022 (5 year contract)

Ensure strong input to ICP strategy on 0-5 issues and priorities September 2022

Contract Variation for the period October 2022-September 2024 with identified priorities and outcomes for 
the Children and Young People’s Public Health Service

September 2022

Pilot new delivery model for National Childhood Measurement Programme in Year 6 to include healthy 
lifestyle advice and support transition. 

from Sept 2022 

Mobilisation and implementation of BfN Breastfeeding Support Service with and establish local Infant 
Feeding Network. 

November 2022

Develop a communication strategy for THRIVE emotional health and wellbeing for young people. March 2023

Deliver Best Start in Life development plans and support the development of Family Hubs, specifically for 
early years children. 

March 2023

Mental Health Process for Quarterly Suicide prevention ( SP) network lead and Strategic Pan Dorset programme 
coordination in place 

April 2023 

BCP SP action plan refresh and Scrutiny Overview Complete May 2022 

RTS system back online with regular  data feeds to guide strategy September 2022

Impact evaluation on year one skills training complete to inform 2023/24 planning October 2022 

DC SP framework process progressed through DC Corporate channels December 2022 

Mental Health and Suicide Prevention training and skills programme roll out complete December 2022 

Recruit and Deliver NHSE funded training and awareness for ICS March 2023

P
age 99



Work programme: Health Improvement (cont.)

Programme Activity Due date

Drugs & Alcohol Submission of plans for use of supplemental and rough sleepers drug and alcohol treatment grants May 2022 

Establish pan-Dorset partnership with clear delivery plans for each council October 2022

Replacement contract arrangements in place for rough sleepers initiative providers October 2022 

Review of service user representation December 2022 

Establish framework for commissioning of inpatient detoxification and rehabilitation January 2023 

Review and enhance the pathways for the provision of drug and alcohol treatment targeted at those 
experiencing rough sleeping and those at risk of sleeping rough. 

March 2023 

Review and improve pathways between criminal justice settings and drug and alcohol treatment March 2023 

Sexual Health Integration and safeguarding deep dive review complete April 2022 

PrEP, staff wellbeing and outreach services review complete July 2022 

Sexual Health & HIV Programme plans scoped and action plan in place September 2022 

LARC cost review complete September 2022

Year three programme objectives in place September 2022 

CHATHEALTH (sexual Health ) review complete October 2022 

Annual Conversation to review year two complete November 2022 

P
age 100



Work programme: Health Improvement (cont.)

Programme Activity Due date

Healthy Lifestyles Support Implement an intelligence-led service upgrade, monitoring effectiveness and quality and make 
improvements where necessary.

TBC

Use behavioural insights and interventions in all our client interactions TBC

Improve client engagement, contact points and support over 12 months to maximise sustainable 
behaviour change.

TBC

Provide an enhanced wellbeing offer for an integrated approach to physical and mental health and 
wellbeing.

TBC

Understand and improve accessibility, ensuring all adults eligible for our service can get the support they 
need.

TBC

Improve digital access and tools for clients and partners. TBC

Enhance engagement with partner organisations, embedding referral pathways in systems. TBC

Invest in staff engagement through our CRM and other in-house tools, and roll out an enhanced staff 
training plan.

TBC

Existing Health Check Delivery model restart complete April 2022 

Review impact of LWD integration with Think Big service. Develop options for medium term November 2022

Health checks Insights scoping exercise complete January 2023 

The CARED pathway for treating tobacco dependency review and learning put in place March 2023

New Health Checks delivery model in place April 2023 

P
age 101



Work programme: Health Protection, Healthy Places

Programme Activity Due date

Health Protection Maintain and develop the Day Response team function for COVID 19 September 2022

Carry out sector led improvement audit of local Health Protection function September 2022

Develop a system level approach to prevention and management of infectious diseases and other health 
protection incidents within Dorset ICS and UKHSA in line with new national policies and regulation

November 2022

Identify necessary skills and resources required re Health Protection function for the Dorset system March 2023

Healthy Places Provide Public health comments and inputs into the Local Plans for BCP and DC September 2022

Provide Public Health input and comments into key policies & Strategies including the Green 
Infrastructure Strategy and Rights of Way Improvement Plans in BCP and DC.

September 2022

Scope and review opportunities for joint development work with Planning teams. November 2022

Continue to provide comment and input into relevant planning applications- review themes and topics. March 2023

P
age 102



Work programme: Healthcare Public Health

Programme Activity Due date

Health Inequalities Agreed system plan for year 1 funding June 2022

Continue to lead NHS programme – agreed strategy September 2022

Review OHID White Paper and consider a local public health strategy October 2022

JSNA Complete engagement programme with clear outputs for each HWB July 2022

Support place-based partnerships with clear plan and priorities July 2023

System engagement and input to Integrated Care Partnership strategy July 2022

Population Health 
Management

Develop insight summary based on current dashboards to support ICP strategy September 2022

Adult social care prevention model – using PHM insights to identify benefits of early intervention October 2022

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Public Participation
	5 Forward Plan
	7 Finance report
	May 22 7 appendix 3
	May 22 7 Appendix 4

	8 Health Improvement Services Performance Monitoring
	May 22 8 Appendix 1
	May 22 8 Appendix 2
	May 22 8 Appendix 3
	May 22 8 Appendix 4

	10 Business Plan
	May 22 10 Appendix 1
	May 22 10 Appendix 2


